UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

EFFECT OF IMF FINANCING ON ECONOMIC GROWTH: A SUB-SAHARAN AFRICAN PERSPECTIVE

BUER EBENEZER TEYE

MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION (FINANCE)

UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

EFFECT OF IMF FINANCING ON ECONOMIC GROWTH: A SUB-SAHARAN AFRICAN PERSPECTIVE



A Dissertation in the Department of Applied Finance and Policy Management,
School of Business, submitted to the school
of Graduate Studies, in partial fulfilment
of the requirements for award of the degree of
Master of Business Administration (Finance)
in the University of Education, Winneba

DECLARATION

Student's Declaration

I, **Buer Ebenezer Teye**, declare that this work except quotations and references contained in published works which have all been identified and duly acknowledged, is entirely my original work, and it has not been submitted either in part or whole for another degree anywhere.

Signature:	 	
_		
Date:	 	

Supervisor's Declaration

I, hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of this work were supervised by the guidelines for the supervision of dissertations as laid down by the University of Education, Winneba.

Supervisor's Name: Dr. Richard Oduro
Signature:
Date:

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my late mother Gifty Kabu who inspired me to be who I am today.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I acknowledge the following personalities for their support throughout my graduate journey. Dr. Richard Oduro, Ag. Dean school of business Mr. Samuel Gameli Gadzo, Head of Department Acounting, Mr. Rexford Okyireh, Mr. Emmanuel Johnson, Brother Philip Narh Sackey, Mr. Simon Ajesiwor Buer, Sister Mary Kabu Okai and Pastor Raphael Agormedah for their immense support. Thank you.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents	Pages
DECLARATION	i
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
ABSTRACT	viii
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.0 Overview	1
1.1 Background Study	1
1.2 Problem Statement	7
1.3 Purpose of study	9
1.4 Research Objectives	9
1.5 Hypothesis	10
1.6 Significance of the study	10
1.7 Scope of the study	11
1.8 Organization of the study	11
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.0 Introduction	12
2.1 Theoretical Review	12
2.1.1 The Neoclassical Growth Theory (NGM)	12
2.1.2 Endogenous Growth Model (EGM)	15
2.2 Empirical review	20
2.2.1 External Debt burden and debt service capacity	20
2.2.2 Debt Crisis and External Debt in Sub-Saharan Africa	21
2.2.3 Studies which Found Positive Contribution of External Debt to E	Economic
Growth	32
2.2.4 Studies that Found Negative Contribution of External debt to Eco	onomic
Growth.	33
2.2.5 Studies that Found Mixed/No Relationship between External Del	bt and Growth.
	37
2.3 Summary of Literature Review Findings	38

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	41
3.0 Introduction	41
3.1 Research Paradigm	41
3.2 Research Design	42
3.3 Population and sample size	43
3.4 Sampling technique	44
3.5 Data collection	44
3.6 Estimation technique	44
3.7 Ethical considerations	48
3.7.1 Confidentiality	48
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	49
4.1 Introduction	49
4.2 Descriptive Analysis	49
4.3 Correlation Analysis	52
4.4 Discussion of results	60
4.4.1 The effect of multilateral assistance on economic growth in sub-Saharan	Africa.
	61
4.4.2 The impact of inflation on the economic growth of sub-Saharan Africa	
countries.	62
4.5 Chapter summary	63
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDAT	IONS
	64
5.1 Introduction	64
5.2 Summary of key findings	64
5.3 Conclusion	66
5.4 Recommendations	67
5.5 Further research	68
REFERENCES	70

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4. 2.1: Descriptive statistics of variables	50
Table 4.2 The correlation of the variables.	52
Table 4.3 the relationship between Multilateral Assistance, Inflation and Economic	
growth.	57



LIST OF FIGURE

14

Figure 2.1: Short run growth as determined in neoclassical growth model



ABSTRACT

The study examined the effect of IMF financing on economic growth within the sub-Saharan region and to ascertain whether multilateral aid played complementary role in driving growth of sub-Saharan African economies. The study employed explanatory research design, and fixed effect panel regression model to estimate the effects of multilateral aid and inflation over an annual period of 2000-2022 was used. Again, the study used secondary data mainly drawn from the World Bank (World Development Indicators, International Financial Statistics) and IMF (World Economic Outlook) 2023 online databases. The findings established a positive relationship between IMF financing on economic growth. The positive results show that, multilateral aid injections can act as an economic stimulus, particularly during periods of economic downturn whiles inflation posits a negative and insignificant relationship on economic growth. One major implication of the findings is that SSA countries have one way or the other benefited substantially from IMF aid. It is, therefore, important for these countries to develop stronger institutions that would attract more inflows from multilateral aids. In accessing the effect of inflation on economic growth, the study found that there is a negative and insignificant relationship between inflation and economic growth. This translates that, if inflation improves by a unit, it causes a decrease in economic growth. Though the study found an indirect relationship between inflation and economic growth, inflation determines how well an economy grows. Conversely, the inflation coefficient has a negative. This suggests that slower economic development and higher inflation rates are related.

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.0 Overview

Approximately, 183 nations throughout the world are currently members of the International Monetary Fund (IMF). As part of the Bretton Woods conference, which was held in the wake of World War II, IMF was founded in 1945 with the World Bank. (Antonio, 2017). The IMF's duties include fostering global cooperation by acting as a permanent organization that offers the means of collaboration and advice on global monetary issues. In order to support and maintain high levels of employment and real income as well as to develop each member country's productive resources as the main goals of economic policy, it is also necessary to facilitate the expansion and balanced growth of international trade. Additionally, the IMF works to maintain orderly exchange arrangements among its members, prevent competitive exchange depreciation, and promote exchange stability. It also supports the establishment of a multilateral payments system for current member transactions as well as the removal of foreign exchange restrictions that impede the expansion of global trade. Additionally, the IMF instills confidence in its members by making the Fund's general resources temporarily available to them with sufficient safeguards. This gives them the chance to rectify imbalances in their balance of payments without taking actions that would be detrimental to the prosperity of their country or the world (Fioramonti, 2017; Mearsheimer, 2018).

1.1 Background Study

Over the past seventy-five years, the IMF's engagement with low-income countries has undergone many changes. In the process of helping its members grow, the IMF has itself grown, not only in financial and staff resources, but more importantly in its

understanding that it can—and must—tailor its facilities and activities to better meet the needs of its diverse membership. When the IMF began in 1946, it gave little thought according to low-income countries any special consideration or treating them differently from other member countries.

In the intervening seventy-five years, however, much has changed. Today, low-income countries are supported by a wide range of IMF initiatives tailored to the needs and circumstance. Despite a vigorous push, the developing countries represented at the 1944 Bretton woods conference- which included three sub-Saharan Africa countries (Ethiopia, Liberia, and South Africa) - failed to have their development financing needs explicitly referenced in the Articles of agreement (though they did manage to have _the development of the productive resources of all member countries' recognized as a primary objective of economic policy') (Akinola, 2021; Messay, 2023).

From the outset, moreover, the IMF made it clear that it intended to provide only short-term balance of payment support, regardless of the member's stage of economic development. When Ethiopia, the first country to seek IMF financial support, requested a drawing of US\$900,000 (15 percent of quota), it was refused on the grounds that its financing needs were neither immediate nor temporary.

In the 1950s and 1960s the IMF began to recognize that various segments of its membership had diverse needs and faced different problems. As newly independent African countries joined the organization, the Fund added an African Department in 1961. The needs of commodity exporters (mostly developing countries), facing volatile prices and crop yields, were also recognized in the creation of the Compensatory Financing Facility (1963) and the Buffer Stock Financing Facility (1969). Yet the

mindset that IMF support should be for temporary balance of payments problems persisted, even regarding developing countries.

Although the IMF had always maintained that it supported the authorities' economic programs (hence, —IMF-supported programs" rather than —IMF programs"), in practice, the IMF and World Bank staffs had heavy input into program design, including the drafting of the Policy Framework Papers and their social content. In response to criticism that its programs often hurt the poor, the IMF restructured the ESAF in 1999 as the Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (with its eponymous objectives). Importantly, countries were now required to prepare their own Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs), with active participation of civil society and development partners. PRSPs then formed the basis of measures in PRGF programs and were considered by IMF and World Bank Executive Boards when approving concessional loans. In the meantime, however, many low-income countries continue to accumulate debt beyond their capacity to repay. Though there had been earlier—flow" rescheduling, it was not until 1988, under the -Foronto terms" agreed by the Group of Seven (G7), that the Paris Club began offering rescheduling that reduced the present value of the debt, albeit by modest percentages. Official bilateral creditors then began extending ever more generous terms for debt relief, putting pressure on multilateral institutions, including the IMF, to follow suit (Force & Vonessen, 2021).

A few years later, the Multilateral Debt Relief Initiative provided further debt relief by cancelling all debt owed by eligible countries to the IMF, the World Bank, and the African Development Fund. On January 6, 2006, the IMF delivered US\$3.4 billion of debt relief to 19 countries, the first multilateral institution to do so.

The relationship between Ghana and the international Monetary Fund (IMF) dates to the late 1960s and can be described as having a flip-flop cycle, following the overthrow of Kwame Nkrumah's government in 1966, the country suffered nearly two decades of political instability and decline (Twumasi-Baffour, 2019).

Our first stop at the IMF was on May 17, 1966, for a standby Agreement. Subsequent agreements followed in the following years for similar support: May 25, 1967, May 28, 1968, May 29, 1969, and January 10, 1979 and has since being at IMF for seventeen (17) times. According to (Twumasi-Baffour, 2019) by 1983, Ghana's economy was in tatters. It desperately needed support to reverse the downward spiral. As a result, Ghana embarked on a major programme of economic reform. It did this through an IMF and World Bank sponsored structural adjustment programme and economic recovery programme'. The structural adjustment facilities were used to steer Ghana toward becoming a market-friendly nation where incentives were created by the free market. In the process, the country embarked on a large-scale overhaul of institutions, encouraged competition by privatizing state own enterprises, built institutional capacity and attained macroeconomic stability (Baffour-Twumasi, 2019). Ghana chalked up some initial successes under the IMF programme. It was in fact referred to as the programme's deal, student due to significant improvements in its macroeconomics indicators. This notwithstanding, we were back at the IMF in the 90s for support. After nearly two decades of adjustment, in 2001, the country fell to hard times. It was classified as a highly indebted poo country- a World Bank and IMF initiated aimed at reducing the external debt burden of very poor countries. (Twumasi-baffour, 2019). We went for extended credit facility on May 09, 2003 and July 15, 2009.

On April 3, 2015, the IMF approved a three-year extended credit facility arrangement with Ghana. The programme was extended for an additional year, ending on 2 April

2019. At the turn of the century, the IMF's engagement with low-income countries centered on three pillars: better funded and designed programs, debt relief to facilitate poverty reduction efforts, and technical assistance. Although the IMF had long offered technical assistance to its members, under Managing Director Michel Camdessus, the focus shifted to African countries, which by the early 2000s were receiving more than one-quarter of the IMF's technical assistance. Camdessus made helping Africa a personal priority and his successor, Horst Köhler, stayed the course by opening the first two African Regional Technical Assistance Centers, as part of the IMF's Africa Capacity Building Initiative in the early 2000s.

By 2019, 36 out of 39 eligible countries had received debt relief totaling some \$125 billion, allowing them to increase social spending, especially on health and education, while remaining within budgetary envelopes. While most did not fully achieve their UN Millennium Development Goals, many made substantial progress towards them. After the misery of the 1980s, when per-capita incomes declined in many African countries, the reforms that low-income countries had implemented, together with debt relief and the more benign external environment helped rekindle growth in the latter half of the 1990s, which accelerated through most of the 2000s, narrowing the income gap with advanced economies. IMF engagement with low-income countries with majority being sub-Saharan African countries continued to evolve in the twenty-first century. Recognizing that some no longer needed financing but could benefit from external monitoring and the IMF's –seal of approval" of the authorities' policies, in 2005 the IMF introduced the Policy Support Instrument, which enabled program-like monitoring without accompanying loans. In 2010, the PRGF was renamed the Poverty Reduction Growth Trust and split into three concessional facilities:

The Extended Credit Facility, for countries facing protracted balance of payments needs, the Standby Credit Facility, for short-term and precautionary balance of payments needs, and the Rapid Credit Facility, which provides low-conditionality financing in the face of natural disasters or other emergencies. That same year, the IMF also established the Post-Catastrophe Debt Relief Trust (renamed the Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust in 2015), which allows it to participate in international debt relief efforts for poor countries hit by natural disasters and epidemics. In early 2015, three Ebola-afflicted countries, Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone, received speedy assistance from this trust. Mindful of the risks of excessive borrowing following debt relief, in 2005, the IMF introduced a Debt Sustainability Framework for lowincome countries. Many of them faced the familiar dilemma of whether to finance investment through domestic savings or external borrowing, with the risk of debt distress if growth does not materialize. While the Framework helped guide borrowing decisions, when commodity prices collapsed in 2015, several low-income countries found that they had nonetheless borrowed excessively and faced elevated debt levels, which weakened their fiscal health on the eve of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Since March 2020, the IMF has provided exceptional levels of emergency financing, facilitated by a series of temporary increases in access limits. In 2020, IMF financial assistance to low-income countries surged to \$13 billion, compared to an average of \$2 billion a year before the pandemic. In all, 53 out of 69 eligible countries received financial support, with more than half in sub-Saharan Africa. In July 2021, the Executive Board approved a further 45 percent increase in normal concessional financing access limits under the PRGT, alongside the elimination of hard limits for the poorest countries if their programs meet requirements for above-normal access and stronger safeguards to ensure debt sustainability. The IMF also modified the

Catastrophe Containment and Relief Trust to allow for immediate debt service relief for low-income countries affected by pandemics, enabling 29 countries to benefit from this relief.

1.2 Problem Statement

Despite the increasing reliance on multilateral assistance for economic growth by Sub-Saharan Africa, foreign aid plays a pivotal role in shaping the economic landscape of Sub-Saharan African countries (Jamil, 2021; Mahembe, 2019; Diep et al., 2021; Echendu, 2020). It highlights the necessity for a thorough analysis of the complex interactions between foreign aids and economic results in promoting sustainable growth and mitigating socioeconomic inequities (Campagnolo, 2019; Kronenberg, 2021, Salvo et al., 2021). There exists a pressing need to critically examine the effectiveness and sustainability of these financial and developmental interventions (Biscaye et al., 2017; Gulrajani, 2016; Heleta, 2021; Mlambo et al., 2019; Gizachew, 2017; Shahzad, 2020). However, questions persist about the extent to which multilateral assistance translates into tangible and enduring economic growth, as well as the potential unintended consequences and challenges associated with these aid mechanisms (Wambaka, 2023; Phiri, 2017; Kuete, 2020; Lee et al., 2020).

It is evidenced by Assa (2017) that Sub-Saharan Africa has indeed received foreign aid over the years. The region has been a significant recipient of aid from various international organizations and donor countries (Bermeo, 2017). The impact and effectiveness of those aids are subjects of ongoing debate (Anetor, & Verhoef, 2020). Sub-Saharan Africa's experience with foreign aid is complex, reflecting both positive contributions and challenges that demand careful consideration in ongoing development efforts (Sachs, 2019). However, it is imperative to acknowledge variations in the nature and impact of aid across countries within the region. Some nations may have

experienced substantial benefits, while others might have faced challenges in harnessing aid effectively (Nguimkeu, & Okou, 2021).

While certain countries in the Sub-Saharan Africa region have demonstrated remarkable economic progress in certain sectors of their economy, others continue to face impediments to growth. Rapacki and Prochniak (2019) posits that disparities in growth trajectories necessitate a detailed examination of contributing factors across the region. Consequently, the overarching problem to be addressed is the need to comprehensively understand the impact of multilateral assistance on economic growth in SSA countries, considering the dual challenges of varied growth experiences and the influence of inflation Sawyerr (2021) and Asche (2021). Inflation has been inimical to economic growth. This ironical phenomenon informs the question; does multilateral assistance significantly influence economic growth?

Empirical efforts to unravel the effects of multilateral aid and inflation on economic growth form a crucial aspect of the research problem (Khomba, 2017; Abate, 2022; Rapetti, 2020; Rao et al., 2023; Atuahene & Sheng, 2023; Bird & Choi, 2020; Edward & Karamuriro, 2020; Ahuja & Pandit, 2020; Wambaka, 2023; Sethi et al., 2023; Husein, 2019; Boateng et al., 2021; Jena & Sethi, 2020; Younsi et al., 2021; Sethi et al., 2019; Chirwa & Odhiambo, 2017). However, gaps in knowledge persist, calling for a rigorous investigation into the specific empirical evidence that illuminates the relationship between multilateral assistance, inflation rates, and their combined impact on the economic growth of SSA countries. On the contrary, these studies yielded mixed results (Dokun, 2017; Amoa, 2020; Azam, & Feng, 2021). For instance, whereas a group of studies discovered positive impact of multilateral aid on economic growth (Jena & Sethi, 2020; Bird & Choi, 2020; Azam, & Feng, 2021; (Tang & Bundhoo, 2017; Maruta et al., 2020; Sothan, 2018; Wako, 2018; Pham, 2018; Moyo & Tsakata,

2017), other studies oppose to the finding and found negative effect of multilateral aid on economic growth (Tang & Bundhoo, 2017; Mohamed, 2018; Dijkstra, 2018; Biscaye et al., 2017; Pham, 2018; Moyo & Tsakata, 2017; Bird & Choi, 2020; Azam, & Feng, 2021; Anetor et al., 2020). Rafaei and Sameti (2015) found ODA to have significant positive relationship with growth over the period. Deaton and Aten, (2017) and Easterly (2019) also argue that development aid has hidden negative effects, due to its political inclination. Despite the rising effort to explore this research area, the researcher was unable to cite any known study in the sub-Saharan African region. These dynamics and the little research efforts in the subject matter in the sub-Saharan Africa, feeds into the motivation of the researcher to investigate the impact of multilateral assistance and inflation on economic growth within the SSA region.

1.3 Purpose of Study

The main purpose of this research is to determine the effect of international monetary fund financing on economic growth with the sub-Saharan region as focus and to ascertain whether multilateral aid played complementary role in driving growth of sub-Saharan African economies.

1.4 Research Objectives

The general objective of this research is to determine the effects of IMF financing on economic growth: A sub-Saharan countries perspective.

The specific objectives are to:

1. examine the effect of multilateral assistance on economic growth in sub -Saharan countries

2. establish the effect of inflation on economic growth of sub-Saharan countries on IMF financing.

1.5 Hypothesis

1. H₀: Multilateral assistance has significant effect on economic growth in the sub-Saharan region

H₁: Multilateral assistance has no significant effect on economic growth in the sub-Saharan region

2. H₀: There is a significant relationship between inflation and economic growth

H₁: There is a significant relationship between inflation and economic growth

1.6 Significance of the Study

The study aims at evaluating the effect of international monetary fund on economic growth in the sub-Saharan countries. This study will consequently add to the limited existing literature by providing consideration into how the IMF financing has impacted countries within the sub region and why they keep signing for new agreement. Gaining more knowledge on these topics will contribute immensely to the academic community by pointing out how beneficial the IMF program is to the sub-Saharan region. This research will help individuals understand and appreciate why their respective countries enrol on IMF financing. More so, this research may contribute to government's financial sector in Africa in order to understand the economic values of IMF financing. Furthermore, this study will help future researchers who may want to study IMF financing in the sub-Saharan country to support their research as well as provide more information for review.

1.7 Scope of the Study

The overall scope of the study was to ascertain the extent to which IMF financing has on economic growth within the sub-Saharan region. The study limited its scope to all the countries that participate in the IMF lending programs in the sub-Sahara within the year 2000 to 2022. This includes all 48 countries in the sub-Sahara Africa but due to data unavailability only 45 countries data were used for the study. The area of study was selected due to its relevance to the aim of the study and the current happenings in the country, Ghana. Data was sourced from IMF World Economic Outlook Database, Regional Economic Outlook, IMF Data Portal, International Finance Statistics, Global Financial Stability Report, Fiscal Monitor, IMF Data Mapper and respective country's website for accuracy, consistency, and more dependable annual panel data.

1.8 Organization of the Study

This paper is planned into the following chapters: Chapter one focuses on the introductory aspects of the research topic, it gives a general introduction to the research. This chapter is made up of the following: the background of the study, the statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, research objectives and questions, the significance of the study, the scope of the study and how the various chapters are organized. Chapter two reviews the related literature on the topic. The researcher considered theoretical literature available on the subject matter. Chapter three on the other hand deals with the methodology of the research. It covers the research design, population, the sampling techniques and the sampling size used, and the data collection tools and tools for data analyses. Chapter four is concerned with analysis of data and discussion of findings. The last chapter which is chapter five deals with the summary of findings draws conclusions and suggests recommendations from the findings of the study.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.0 Introduction

This chapter outlines economic outlook of Sub-Saharan Africa using key macroeconomic variables that are vital in the assessment of growth and development of an economy. The development of huge external debt accumulation has invited theories and empirical investigations into assessing the impact of debt on economic growth. This chapter will also discuss existing theoretical theories and empirical studies on external debt and growth.

2.1 Theoretical Review

The study employed two theories to examine the effect of IMF financing on economic growth from the perspective of Sub-Saharan Africa. These theories include neoclassical model theory and endogenous model theory.

2.1.1 The Neoclassical Growth Theory (NGM)

The neoclassical growth model (NGM) is the foundation of any study on economic growth (Lomulen, 2019; Campante et al., 2021). The model's fundamental tenet is short-term economic growth via capital accumulation. Economic policies that encourage people to save more can help achieve this. Long-term growth rates, on the other hand, are expected to revert to the rate of technological advancement, which the NGM believes is exogenously determined and unaffected by economic factors. As a result, the NGM has low expectations for long-term economic growth. The concept of diminishing marginal productivity, which sets a limit on how much output an individual can produce by merely working with increasing amounts of capital, is used to explain this pessimism.

To put it another way, picture an economy where the supply of labour and technology is fixed at a certain level and will not change over time. Assume that this labour is employed with a total capital stock of K. A function of aggregate production determines the greatest quantity that can be produced, which is dependent on K (Masoud, 2013). To keep things simple, Cobb Douglas production function is assumed. In this production function, it is often assumed that there are constant returns to scale, meaning that doubling all units will result in doubling output (Popa, 2014). However, when one input increases (in this case, capital) and the other stays constant (labour), decreasing returns will occur due to the assumption of a constant labour supply. This suggests that given fixed labour, the contribution of capital to output decreases as more capital is used (Wilfred & Mbonigaba, 2019).

The NGM describes the changes in output as input factor rises based on the Cobb Douglas production. The accumulation of capital is crucial here (Carter, 2019). According to this model, capital is created by setting aside a certain percentage of output each period and investing it in new capital. However, each year, a component of the capital stock depreciates. According to this model, gains in output and eventually economic growth are the result of capital accumulation through the saving of a portion of total output during each period. The output curve in figure 2.1 shows diminishing returns; that is, output grows at an increasing rate, reaches a maximum, and then decreases, whereas the savings curve represents a portion of output.

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh



leaning technical advancement for capital to grow more productive over time. As a result, the endogenous growth models, which placed an emphasis on technical advancement in long-term growth rate prediction, are employed due to NGM's inevitable capacity to forecast long-term growth rates (Gogos et al., 2014; Chirwa & Odhiambo, 2018).

2.1.2 Endogenous Growth Model (EGM)

The Solow (neoclassical) growth model has flaws and omissions, which led to the development of endogenous growth theory. This novel theory replaces the exogenous components of the neoclassical growth theory with endogenous factors to explain an economy's long-term growth rate. A group of theories known as endogenous growth models explain how technical advancements and discoveries drive economic growth. Technological advancements are considered exogenous, determined outside the model, and provided because they have no role in this process of growth. Aghion and Howitt (2017) contend that there are strong arguments in favour of the theory that the financial choices made by economic actors can influence the advancement of technology. According to the EGM, long-term economic growth is mostly determined by technological advancement, which the NGM was unable to account for. Therefore, in endogenous growth models, technological advancement becomes endogenous. Remember that the neoclassical growth model's effect of diminishing returns sets a ceiling on output expansion and economic growth. In order to get beyond this barrier to economic expansion, EGM promotes increasing returns to scale.

The factor inputs show consistent returns to scale in the conventional Cobb Douglas production function. Economic agents are thus left with little motive or reward to participate in activities that promote technological advancement. Therefore, no theory that endogenizes technological advancement can be predicated on a competitive

equilibrium in which agents are compensated based on the marginal products they produce. In order to facilitate comprehension and keep things simple, this research will focus on three (3) of the most popular endogenous growth models - The Schumpeterian Growth Model, the AK model and the Product Variety Model

■ The AK Model

The main goal of endogenous growth models is to demonstrate how advancements in technology can result in increasing returns to scale. Tavani and Zamparelli (2018) AK model highlights the potential for productivity to vary based on output per worker. This suggests that "learning by doing" can lead to unintentional technological advancement. Employee specialization in the production process will lead to increased worker productivity because of this specialization. The AK model defines technological advancement as the difference between a factor's initial productivity prior to learning by doing and its subsequent, higher productivity following learning by doing. The AK model and the neoclassical growth model share many assumptions about what propels economic growth. While capital accumulation and savings drive economic growth in the AK neoclassical growth model, efficiency, savings, and capital accumulation drive economic growth in the AK model. Efficiency is the rise in factor input productivity brought about by "learning by doing."

Product Variety Model

Other endogenous growth models that placed an emphasis on innovation—horizontal innovations—were inspired by the AK model's incapacity to provide a sufficient explanation of long-term economic growth. These innovation-based endogenous growth models are divided into two parallel branches: the Schumpeterian growth model and the product variety model. According to the product variety concept, the increase of

specialized intermediate product varieties leads to economic growth. As was previously mentioned, long-term economic growth can be succinctly and clearly explained by modeling increasing returns to scale. In order to do this, the product variety model maintains that innovations that result in the introduction of new kinds are what propel growth.

In summary, research spillovers allow new innovators to benefit from the entire stock of current breakthroughs, and higher labour specialization that uses a greater number of intermediate inputs are the two main drivers of productivity growth. Since ideas are non-trivial, new innovators are allowed to employ them in their own research endeavors. Furthermore, they are excludable in the sense that monopoly rents are paid for every innovation. Research efforts aimed at finding new types are driven by the potential for these rents (Howitt & Aghion, 2017). Three sectors interact to form the basic product variety model: the research sector, which generates research outputs; the intermediate goods sector, which purchases research output from the research sector and produces intermediate goods (inputs for the final sector); and the final good (Proost & Thisse, 2019). When predicting long-term economic growth, the issue of diminishing returns is lessened by the combination of these three sectors' functions.

In the field of research, spillovers are taken for granted. These spillovers arise from the non-rival and partially excludable nature of developments in the research sector. This implies that other researchers can view innovations (blueprints, product designs, etc.) and can create new ones based on what they see. Additionally, by selling their property rights and patents to the middle-class market, the researchers can profit financially from these inventions (Chirwa & Odhiambo, 2018). As a result, there is a chance for rewards

for invention but also an imperfect market for these advances. The acquisition of patents and property rights by the intermediate sector confers upon them a monopolistic power, as they are the only ones with the sole right to utilize the innovation. If additional intermediate firms (different types of intermediate goods) enter the market with the same marginal productivity and there is a growth in patents for intermediate goods, the intermediate sector will experience increasing returns to scale (Proost & Thisse, 2019). Because innovations and spillovers are non-rival, more patents will result in more intermediate products, which will increase the variety of intermediate goods. As a result, the explanation of economic growth by decreasing returns is limited. The intermediate goods and labour are combined to create the final good, which is consumed, in the final good sector (Proost & Thisse, 2019). The fundamental assumptions determine the implications of the product variety model. These presumptions include monopolistic strength in the intermediate sector about the application of innovations in the research sector; spillovers in innovation and research strong enough to limit diminishing returns. The overall model assumes that labour supply and research productivity both positively correlate with economic growth.

The Schumpeterian Growth Model

This economic growth model highlights that a series of vertical or quality-improving innovations drive growth. The reason it is dubbed Schumpeterian is that it embodies the forces that Ferreira et al., (2017) refers to as "creative destruction" - innovation that spurs growth produces new technology while simultaneously rendering existing technology obsolete. This model emphasizes innovations and research spillovers as drivers of economic growth, much like the product variety model. The Schumpeterian growth model, on the other hand, maintains that long-term economic growth can only be explained by potential improvements (the creation of better intermediate goods) in

the intermediate sector, despite the fact that product variety concludes that the total of growing varieties of intermediate goods is what drives economic growth.

The Schumpeterian growth model's mechanism is comparable to the product variety model. On the other hand, growth in the Schumpeterian model comes because of an increase in the intermediate input's productivity through raising the intermediate good's quality. Innovation can be unpredictable and probabilistic if the researcher is unsuccessful in coming up with a new, more productive version of the intermediate goods. Because it becomes more difficult to improve upon technologically advanced intermediate items, this uncertainty grows as technology improves. To optimize research earnings, the researcher is rewarded with a monopoly profit that is compared to the cost of starting the research, considering the uncertainty and complexity involved in innovation. The frequency of innovations, or how long it takes for innovation to occur, and the size of innovations, or the productivity effects of innovations, are thus determined by uncertainty and maximizing monopoly research profits. These two concepts are crucial for understanding long-run economic growth in a Schumpeterian framework. Creative destruction acts as a counterbalance to diminishing returns in the Schumpeterian Growth model. To produce consumer goods, the final sector is given better intermediate goods. The model is affected by this type of creative destructive innovation in many ways. Firstly, innovation productivity rises in tandem with economic growth. This highlights the significance of education and health as factors that promote growth. Secondly, the scale of innovations correlates positively with economic growth. This highlights the necessity for nations that are falling behind in terms of technology to successfully develop policies that support the application of this technology in order to be rewarded with greater increases in productivity. Thirdly, economic growth is induced by stronger property rights. By preventing copying of innovation in the middle market, this promotes greater research while safeguarding the earnings of accomplished researchers. Lastly, scale effects exists. Population growth will lead to economic expansion. It makes intuitive sense that both the market for successful entrepreneurs and the number of researchers will grow. Generally, endogenous growth models rely heavily on neoclassical theory's presumptions, which have shown to be unsuitable for emerging nations. The symmetry of economic sectors and the existence of a single product market are two incorrect assumptions made by endogenous growth models, which abstract from reality. Inefficiencies brought on by institution and transaction costs, institutional inadequacies and perfect markets, poor infrastructure are some prominent factors impeding economic progress in underdeveloped nations. The EGM also ignores the political aspect of innovation, in which nations create formidable obstacles to innovations.

2.2 Empirical Review

2.2.1 External Debt Burden and Debt Service Capacity

Loan from abroad could become a burden on the borrowing nation if it fails to raise sufficient resources from current production to fulfil debt service obligations. The difficulty in servicing debt reflects debt burden and can be measured in terms of current national income that is committed to financing previously contracted loan (Deebii & Opuala-Charles, 2022). A situation where the debt service becomes onerous and large amount of national income is devoted in servicing it implies that debt service burden on such country is huge. Conversely, external debt becomes less burdensome when debt service obligations absorb a small proportion of national income. In analyzing the capacity to service external debt, the question is what should be the optimal level of foreign loan which will induce no future debt service burden? Ejumegu (2019) adopted optimization framework to provide theoretical explanation to this question.

They argued that optimally, the marginal cost of external borrowing should be equal to its marginal benefit. However, Soop et al. (2023) demur that cost-benefit optimization approach does not provide any formula that is operational in ascertaining the debt service capacity of countries. Soop et al. (2023) proposes that the issue of debt capacity should be considered from the perspective of expected growth. Hjertholm approached the issue of debt capacity in three ways. First, is output growth sufficient to meet debt servicing obligation? This condition has rarely been met in developing countries in recent decades (Korley, 2018). Secondly, since external debt is financed by foreign exchange, is the rate of growth of export earnings equal to the interest rate? Thirdly, is the rate of expansion of the tax base equal to the interest rate? Soop et al. (2023) provides evidence that these conditions have not been met in Sub-Saharan Africa. A non-optimization approach has also been used to find optimal external debt that falls within the capacity of a country to service. This concept incorporates expected growth trajectory of an economy. It emphasizes foreign borrowing essentially for investment purposes as a means of bridging the wedge between domestic borrowing and investment (Bello, 2020).

2.2.2 Debt Crisis and External Debt in Sub-Saharan Africa

Despite several economic reforms pursued over the past decades, most countries in Sub-Saharan Africa have recorded only modest growth with rapid rise in inflation, huge budget deficits, unsustainable balance of payments (BOP) deficits coupled with high levels of debt. The causes of these crises can be attributed to poor domestic debt, deteriorating terms of trade and a high debt burden (Onyekwelu & Ugwuanyi, 2014). The problem of external debt default in Sub-Saharan Africa would be well understood if seen as an integral part of the global external debt crisis which emerged in 1982 due to: excessive borrowing by developing countries coupled with liberal lending by

foreign commercial banks in 1970s, the fall in commodity prices especially petroleum products in early 1980s, astronomic increase in international lending rate in 1982. The 1982 global financial crisis caused a sudden end to the era of liberal lending. Developing countries could no more roll over their debts and could hardly service their debt from extra borrowing from abroad. Export earnings were also insufficient for debt servicing because of unfavorable terms of trade confronting those economies. Debt stocks of countries were escalating at a time when export earnings were on the decline due to a rapid fall in prices on the international market. Consequently, imports were gradually being cut down as a way of solving increasing current account deficits.

Aside from the contagious effect of the global debt crisis, significant proportion of external debt growth of Sub-Saharan African countries since 1982 may be attributed to some external factors which are beyond the control of these economies. Continual decline in terms of trade, high interest rate, and exchange rate misalignment, uncontrolled fluctuations in export earnings, and rescheduling and refinancing of debt are some of the dominant factors especially from 1989. External debt problem in Sub-Saharan African started initially in the form of difficulty in servicing external loans in accordance with terms and conditions specified in the original loan contract. Azolibe (2022) claim 27 out 44 Sub Saharan African countries had payments arrears hence debt financing and rescheduling were adopted to resolve the problem. Whilst this strategy seemed to relieve debtor countries of debt service burden in the short run, it led to continual postponement of debt into the future without finding the fundamental structural defect of their economies that causes the problem. This method persisted until the 1990s when debt levels of majority of countries in the region were pronounced unsustainable.

International financial community has been providing assistance to debtor countries since the emergence of the debt crisis in attempt to reduce their external indebtedness, reduce poverty, foster growth, and to achieve external viability (Onjala, 2018). This assistance takes the form of lending to developing countries with high concessions, and provision of debt reliefs. This assistance has helped to some extent reducing external indebtedness of countries but could not halt the increasing BOP deficits, fiscal imbalances, rate of external borrowing, and poverty in Sub-Saharan African. Most developing countries including those of Sub-Saharan Africa have undergone some economic reforms based on recommendations from the international financial community as an attempt to reduce external debt hikes and its deleterious effect on growth. Among those programs are IMF and World Bank inspired Structural Adjustment Programme (SAP) and Economic Recovery Program (ERP) instituted in the 1980s, and the Highly Indebted Poor Country (HIPC) initiative in 1996.

For most of Sub-Saharan African Countries, the era of SAP meant decrease in income, high unemployment, increasing poverty, austerity, and declining standard of living (Popoola, 2020) as cited in (Seyram et al., 2019). Consequently, some resisted the SAP and ERP initiative and undertook partial implementation of the program hence not much was achieved in terms of growth. Following the implementation of SAPs, Sub-Saharan African countries have abandoned medium to long term growth objectives (Ajakaiye & Jerome, 2019). Popoola (2020) reported that Sub-Saharan Africa grew by 3.4 percent from 1974-1980, falling to 1.7 percent for the period 1981-1990 and plummeted to 0.6 percent for the period 1991-1993. By the end of 1990 countries in the region begun to abandon SAP and ERP program due to its failure in meeting outlined growth objectives. External debts of poor countries escalated to unsustainable levels despite the continual rescheduling. The debt of SSA jumped from US\$60.71 billion to

US\$176.36 billion representing 190.5 percent increase for the decade of 1980 to 1990 (World Bank, 2015). The situation was compounded by general feeling of development failures among developing countries. IMF and World Bank in their effort to find a more comprehensive strategy to deal with the debt problem established a group whose core mandate was to assess the magnitudes of multilateral debts in developing countries and find possible ways of solving it.

The group suggested a Multilateral Fund intended to deal with the debt problem on condition of countries adopting and pursuing stringent reforms and adjustment programs (Güven, 2017). By 1995 the debt stocks of most Sub-Saharan African countries were so huge with high debt service burden. Rwanda and Malawi spent 79 percent and 76 percent respectively of their export earnings on servicing of external debt (Güven, 2017). The Multilateral Fund proposal was adopted and later transformed into HIPC in 1996 where some countries were declared as Highly Indebted Poor Countries based on the magnitude of their debt stocks. Out of a total of 44 countries declared as heavily indebted poor countries, 33 were Sub-Saharan Africa countries (Tshuma, 2018). The initiative was to relieve poor countries of their indebtedness basically through debt cancellation.

External Debt Finance

Until the 1970s, most developing countries contracted external debts from foreign governments, Bretton Woods Institutions and Regional Commercial Banks normally at concessional interest rates. Thus, interest rates payable on foreign loans were charged below the market interest rates however, in late 1970s and 1980s foreign commercial banks started to push OPEC money into developing economies initially at low interest rate which later rose significantly thereby increasing the cost of external borrowing.

IMF and the World Bank Classified Sub-Saharan African countries into low-income, lower-middle-income, and upper middle-income countries based on their per capita income levels. The Sub-Saharan Africa categorization on access to international loan is that as a country moves into higher per capita income bracket, it is unable to access grants and concessional loans from the international financial market and would have to borrow at commercial interest rates that may compounds its interest cost.

A rise in foreign interest rates increases the cost of external borrowing as well as the burden of debt service on debtor countries. Interest cost on foreign loans can have dire consequences on growth because those scarce resources would be used for interest payments rather than for investments. Bank of Ghana (2005), for instance, indicated that due to upsurge in Ghana's external debt, government continually resorts to non-concessionary window of the IMF Standby Facility to service its debt. High interest payment means that financial resources are cut from public investment crucial for economic growth. Interest payable on external debt could be accommodated by governments if the foreign capital inflow is invested in self-sustaining long-term capital projects. These long-term projects would be able to generate sufficient cash flows more than the cost of the loan. However, foreign loans, aid, and grants inflows to developing countries as well as Sub Saharan Africa are most often spent on recurrent expenditures.

The Harrod-Domar growth model explains the direct relationship between savings and rate of economic growth and the indirect relationship between capital and growth. The model assumes that economic growth is because of capital accumulation in the form of savings and development economists have used to explain financing gap of developing countries. Development economists claim that in case of abundant labor supply, the only constraint to production is capital scarcity (Sugandini et al., 2023). The financing gap is the difference between available financing for investment, the required

investment and using foreign capital such as foreign debt to fill the gap would help achieve the targeted growth rate. Empirical evidence in support of this theory in developing countries however remains imaginary since the growth of foreign debt has not helped achieve targeted growth in these countries. Moreover, a school of thought holds the position that external debt has positive effect on domestic savings, investment and hence promotes economic growth. External debt is seen as an inflow of foreign capital which adds up to most often insufficient domestic savings.

Thus, foreign borrowing fills savings and investment gaps and makes funds available in the borrowing economy for investment in productive ventures which require huge capital outlay for economic take-off. This claim is in consonance with the views of Eaton who suggested that international debt (foreign savings) is a complement to domestic savings and investment and hence have positive effect on economic growth (Ibrahim Mohammed, 2017). Moreover, many countries cannot avoid borrowing funds from abroad to finance their development projects since external loans most often come at lower interest rates compared to domestic ones. Low interest rate makes loans from abroad relatively cheaper to budget managers. Economic managers are also motivated to secure loan from abroad and limitless international market since risk of crowding out borrowers from its own economy is low. This low interest rate and utter absence of crowding out private borrowers would as well facilitate economic growth. In contrast to the view that external debt serves as a supplement to domestic savings and investment, another school of thought views external debt as a substitute to savings and investment and hence has adverse impact on Sub-Saharan Africa on growth.

Literature has identified five dominant channels through which external debt affect growth negatively. These channels are explained using debt overhang hypothesis, crowding out effects, human capital development effect, import compression hypothesis and the direct effect of debt hypothesis. Krugman (2018) defined debt overhang as -a situation in which the expected repayment on foreign debt falls short of the contractual value of the debt" whiles according to Idris and Aliyara (2022), debt overhang refers to -a situation in which the debtor country benefits very little from the return to any additional investment because of the debt service obligations". Debt Overhang Hypothesis (DOH) has two versions: the narrow (traditional) and broader version. The narrow perspective posits that debt overhang effect exists when the country's debt discourages investment. Thus, when investors expect that government would increase the tax rate on returns to capital to service the debt, they would reduce their investment levels to avoid the higher future taxes (Krugman, 2018; Sachs, 2019; Anyanwu, 2017). Neoclassical models posit that imposition of taxes for interest payment on external debt reduces individual's disposable income and hence curtail savings of the taxpayer. The broader version of debt overhang posits that there will be disincentive to invest when investors expect inflation, devaluation and other economic distortionary measures as means to service the debt. Debt rescheduling negotiations also discourages investment since it raises uncertainty within the business environment (Abraham et al., 2020).

Liquidity problem is a short-term problem which arises when a country fails to service its current debt according to specified terms of the debt contract whiles solvency problem is a long run phenomenon, a situation where a country's total debt liability cannot be paid at any period of time (Aluko & Ajayi, 2018)). Secondly, external debt dampens economic growth through human capital development effect. The debt service burden on government reduces public spending as well as spending on social investments such as education and health which are crucial for economic growth. It is well established that access to education and quality health delivery systems are

necessary for producing quality human resources. Therefore, government failure to invest in health and education reduces human capital, productivity slows down and hence a fall in economic growth (consistent with endogenous growth model). Zharku (2018) noted that slower physical capital growth may have indirect effect on growth by reducing productivity of new investment.

Moreover, heavy debt burden implies that government short term revenue must be used to service the debt thereby denying public investment into some sectors of the economy vital for economic growth. Thus, there may be crowding out effect on investment in the domestic economy (ibid). Reduction in public investment can lead to decrease in private investment since some private investments are complements to public investment (Bahal et al., 2018; Bouakez. 2018). Inadequate infrastructural facilities caused by crowding out effect could lead to reduction in investment productivity. The growth effect of very high debt burden through balance of payments account is what is referred to as liquidity constraint hypothesis (LCH) or import compression effect. Countries with high debt burden require enough inflow of foreign exchange to service the debt especially when the nation's currency is not tradable in the international market. A situation where a country has low export and capital inflow, and inadequate service problematic reserves, debt becomes hence may resort to devaluation/depreciation or/and import restriction to encourage foreign exchange inflow Zharku (2018), Senadza (2017) and Bouakez., 2018) argued that this situation makes imported inputs expensive and shortage of capital goods which can lead to low investment and hence low growth. Moreover, debt-growth channel can be traced to Direct Effect of Debt Hypothesis (DEDH) as hypothesized by Adegboyega (2021). However, Adegboyega (2021) argues that even if external debt is inconsequential in the savings and investment function, it can still influence output growth through its effects

on factor productivity and investment mix. While a drag in investment rate would reduce economic growth, external debt may stifle the productivity of production factors in economic growth (Adegboyega, 2021). Kasili (2020) argued that high debt burden creates uncertainty and biases investment towards short term investment opportunities in detriment to long term ones necessary for growth. Thus, investors would be reluctant to invest in projects with long term gestation periods because of the high sense of uncertainty that heavy debt burden may create in their expectations about the distant future. Furthermore, Debt Laffer Curve theory seeks to explain the relationship between debt and economic growth. The theory postulates a nonlinear relationship between debt and growth on the assumption that there is an optimal level of debt that promotes growth and beyond that threshold further debt contraction impedes investment and growth efforts. Sheikh (2020) stated that Debt Laffer Curve can be used to show the relationship between face value of debt and investment since the curve explains that as the outstanding debt increases beyond a certain threshold expected repayment begins to fall. Better still, when a country borrows to finance its budget deficit, it makes resources available for capital investment which helps to achieve its growth objectives. However, increase in borrowing beyond a certain level creates debt overhang and debt service challenge and ultimately retards economic growth. Reasonable levels of external debt help finance productive investment and that may be expected to enhance growth, but beyond a certain level additional indebtedness may reduce growth (Kasili, 2020).

Selected Macroeconomics Performance in Sub-Saharan Africa Inflation

Inflation has generally revealed a downward trend for the period under review. By the end of 1980, consumer price index for the region stood at 13.60 percent and averaged 9.56 percent for the period 1981-1990. Inflation grew marginally at early 1990s

hovering around 9 percent but skyrocketed to 28.81 percent in 1994, declined over the subsequent years hitting as low as 4.18 percent in 2004 (World Bank, 2015). It however increased to 10.56 percent in 2008 and the increment may be attributed to some internal and external disturbances that affect the region within those periods. Domestic food prices rose rapidly in Guinea, Sierra-Leone, Madagascar, and Kenya during these periods as these countries are net staple importers and were not able avoid importing inflation from abroad. Unfavorable weather conditions such as drought in Kenya and flood in Benin lead to poor harvest resulted in high prices in those countries (IMF, 2014). IMF (2011) reported that other factors such as political crisis and foreign exchange shortages fueled inflation in Cote d'Ivoire and guinea respectively. Inflation fell to 4.37 percent at the close of 2010 while the year 2013 witnessed a rate of 4.93 percent. Renewed bouts of currency depreciation in most middle-income countries in the region may reignite inflation pressures that were generally eased in 2013 (IMF, 2014).

Growth Performance

Sub-Saharan Africa enjoyed a moderate growth of real output whiles 1970s witnessed notable increase as this period was characterized by huge inflow of foreign direct investment and rapid boom in commodity prices in the international market. Economic performance however deteriorated in late 1970s and was exacerbated by the global financial and economic crises in the early 1980s whose impacts were much felt especially in 1983 where SSA recorded a negative GDP growth of -1.13 percent (World Bank, 2015). The impacts of global economic downturn on developing economies in 1980s were so severe such that the decade was referred to as —lost decade" for Africa with regards to its development endeavors (Seyram et al., 2019). Although many countries in the developing regions managed to restore growth fortunes after 1980s

global economic distress, stagnation persisted in Sub-Saharan Africa until the first half of 1990. The protracted economic problem in the region was because of the negative impact of external and internal developments, external debt burden. (UNCTAD, 1998; 1999).

Studies on the effect of external debt on economic growth have mainly sprung up following the beginning of the debt crisis in early 1980's. Most of these empirical investigations focus on group of countries whilst few are country specific. With regards to the impact on economic growth, the weight of evidence seems to suggest that the effects are more often negative. Key studies that report a negative effect include Bordo and, Przeworski and Vreeland (2017), Hardoy (2013), Hutchison and Noy (2018), Vreeland (2015), Barro and Lee (2015), Butkiewicz and Yanikkaya (2015), and IMF (2015). Positive or mixed results are reported by Bird and Rowlands (2017), Binder and Bluhm (2017), Njangang et al. (2018), Balima and Sokolova (2021), Dinh et al. (2019), Fromentin (2017), Saleem et al. (2020), Nuru et al. (2022), and Mandeya and Ho (2021). Some of these studies find that while the short-run effects of IMF programmes on economic growth are negative, the long-run effects are positive. Several observations may be made about existing literature. Low-income countries have a greater tendency to be prolonged users of IMF resources and undertake the majority of their borrowing under concessional lending windows.

Brown (2023) discover that the characteristics associated with prolonged engagement with the IMF are those often exhibited by sub-Saharan Africa's. Moreover, the factors associated with IMF programme participation differ between low-income and middle-income countries (Mylonas, & Rowlands, 2015). Moreover, it remains interesting to investigate the extent to which the growth effects change along with the specification of the participation model. We attempt to add value to the existing literature by

investigating in detail the effects of IMF programmes on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa in the period following the programme. We focus on concessional programmes although we briefly compare their effects with those of non-concessional ones. In each case we use a specifically designed participation equation to deal with the potential selection problem. Some of these previous studies are reviewed below:

2.2.3 Studies which Found Positive Contribution of External Debt to Economic Growth

Alli-Momoh (2022) using Least Square Estimation carried out an experiment on 13 Less Developed Countries for the period 1982-1989 which was characterized by debt crisis. Alli-Momoh estimated two different regressions by analyzing the effect of decrease in export prices, high international interest rate, and low growth rates in the developed economies as exogenous variables determining investment in less developed countries and another regression involving dummy variable for the debt crisis to capture external debt effect on growth. For him, if the decline in export prices, increase in foreign interest rate, and recession variable in developed economies are statistically significant then debt crisis is not critical. Warner's panel analysis on the two models established a positive and significant relation between external debt and investment which was attributed to an era when foreign loan provided investible funds. Similarly, Makun and Jayaraman (2021) centered their investigation on 6 pacific island countries which heavily depended on foreign aid and external borrowing until early 1980s when political turmoil in those countries threw their economies into fiscal and current account deficits problems. Their study revealed significantly positive contribution of external debt to real GDP growth whiles fiscal deficit adversely affected real GDP growth.

2.2.4 Studies that Found Negative Contribution of External debt to Economic Growth.

Benli (2020) investigated the cost of foreign borrowing on the Turkish economy by employing computable general equilibrium model. Using a multi sector, non-linear general equilibrium model, he attempted to explain the cost of foreign borrowing through the mechanism of debt overhang. Findings from Benli's work established a negative relationship between external debt and investment in the Turkish economy for the year 1985. Lag distributional model was used by Asante (2019) and Stutts (2022) to assess the effect of external debt on economic growth in 9 South American countries covering a 12-year period (1974-1986). The study found significantly negative relationship between external debt and economic growth. Epaphra and Mesiet (2021) proffered some criticisms against the work of Alli-Momoh (2022) on the grounds of methodology. Epaphra and Mesiet argued that Warner failed to conduct nested and nonnested test to compare the two models he propounded, and the models did not include debt variables. He further argued that debt crisis within the period of 1982-1989 in the less developed economies could be ascribed to massive structural changes that occurred within the period of 1960-1981 hence Warner's hypothesis could not hold if a dummy is created for the debt crisis. Epaphra and Mesiet (2021) hence adopted Ordinary Least Square Estimation for the same 13 less developed countries for the period 1965-1990. His model captured variables which represent world economic condition, monetary and fiscal policies, and debt variables. Epaphra and Mesiet's study established a negative relationship between debt and investment. Kasili (2020) used simple neoclassical model to assess whether capital imports can increase real output and whether there are sufficient available exports to service the debt in 31 Sub Saharan African countries. His findings suggested that there are very little export proceeds

available for debt servicing and this may cause debt overhang problem. Hassan (2020) used ratios such debt-GNP, debt to export, debt service-export ratio to as a measure of debt burden to investigate the impact of external debt on economic growth in Kenya.

They concluded that external debt impedes economic growth through debt overhang effect. Another study was conducted by Wangui (2019) in his effort to investigate the debt overhang hypothesis tracing the effect of debt on growth via investment in 13 Highly Indebted Poor African countries. He argued that debt overhang hypothesis can be best explained using the total debt payable rather than normal debt obligation. His study employed panel data regression using Ordinary Least Square Estimation for the period 1975-1983 and 1984-1991, all established negative relationship between external debt and investment. This is in addition to an earlier exercise by himself in 1993 where he tried to address the problem of debt overhang both theoretically and empirically.

The result was that, over the 20-year period between 1970 and 1990, the investment to GDP ratio was found to exhibit an inverse U-shape, with the negative relationship holding only after a certain debt to GDP ratio has been reached. Adegboyega (2021) conducted empirical analysis on the impact of external debt on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa for the period 1970-1986. He modified the augmented production function into —eontinuous interactive model" based on assumed endogeneity between debt and capital and —discontinuous interactive model" derived from analysis of covariance model to examine the direct and indirect effect of external debt on economic growth.

The study used annual values of several debt measures for a sample of 29 Sub-Saharan African Less Developed Countries. Regardless of the debt measures and model used, the study found direct adverse effect of debt on economic growth (through the

reduction in the marginal productivity of capital) but the result did not support the _indirect' effect of debt (no adverse effect of debt via investment levels). The study also found a nonlinear relationship between debt and growth that it is positive at low levels of investment, but negative after a threshold of 16 percent of GDP Adegboyega (2021) applied Ordinary Least Square estimation technique on augmented production function to analyze the effect of external debt on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa for the debt crisis period 1980-1990.

Seyram et al. (2019) evaluated the effect of external debt on economic growth using simulation approach with small macro-economic model on data collected on Sub-Saharan African countries for a 24-year period from 1970-1994. The study employed Two-Stage Least estimation method on simultaneous equations model involving output and investment demand functions, and four identities. Her findings confirmed debt overhang hypothesis and crowding out effect of external debt and hence concluded that large stock of external debt and heavy debt service payments is detrimental to investment and economic growth in SSA but also failed to account for the effects of country groupings on external debt, and its implication for external debt-growth relationship for SSA. Abebe (2019) used time series data for the period 1970-1995 in her quest to analyze the effect of debt overhang on growth in Kenya. She found no evidence of negative effect of debt service on growth but established crowding effect on private investment. Mohamed (2018) similarly used time series data on Sudan for 1978-2002 to investigate the effect of external borrowing on growth in Sudan. He adopted inflation rate as a measure of macroeconomic policy and the real return on export earning as a proxy for export promotion strategy as the determinants of growth. His findings suggested that real export positively and significantly promotes growth whiles external debt and inflation undermines growth. Nnabue (2018) employed time series

data for Nigeria over the period 1962-2006 to investigate the contribution of external indebtedness to growth in Nigeria. They concluded that foreign borrowing impedes growth effort of Nigeria. Similarly, a study conducted by. Egbo and Ajibo (2020) on the dynamic effects of external debt servicing, capital stock and labor force on economic growth for Pakistan using time series data for 1970-2003 established a negative effect of external debt servicing on productivity of capital and labor which undermines economic growth. Dawood et al. (2020) also analyzed the causal relationship between short term external debt and GDP growth in some 27 Latin American and Caribbean countries for 33 years over 1970-2003 and found that granger causality holds: thus, external debt Granger causes GDP growth in 13 countries out of the 27 countries. The paper however fails to explain the mechanism through which external debt causes economic growth and if such causal relationship is linear or otherwise. Salmon (2021) analyze the development of public debt (measured as central government debt) and the long-term real GDP growth using simple correlation statistics with a sample of 20 developed countries for two centuries 1790 to 2009 finds that for GDP to Debt ratios below 90 percent, relationship between debt and growth was insignificant whilst ratios above 90 percent worsens median growth by 1 percent and considerably more for mean growth. This finding was consistent with that of Mohamedamin (2021). Similarly, Fagbemi and Adeosun (2021) examined the paradox of debt overhang in the Heavily Indebted Poor Countries (HIPCS) of the Southern African Development Community (SADC) in order to show debt overhang existence and the effect of debt relief (HIPC) on these countries. The study was carried out over the period 1970-2011, the period within which countries used for the study accumulated debt and reached the completion point of the HIPC initiative. While using debt to GNI ratio and Debt Service to GDP ratios as measures of debt burden, He adopted Solow

Growth Model, and employed Granger Causality test on an investment function to explore the debt overhang relationship. His finding reveals that GDP growth granger causes private investment and debt service, private capital Granger causes GDP growth and debt service, but debt service does not Granger causes GDP growth and private investment. Fagbemi and Adeosun (2021) concluded that external debt does not promote economic growth. However, his study fails to examine the possibility of a non-linear relationship between external debt and economic growth in those countries.

2.2.5 Studies that Found Mixed/No Relationship between External Debt and Growth.

Owusu (2020) conducted granger causality test for Asian and Pacific nations for the period of 1970-1988 as an attempt to establish cause-effect relationship between external debt and economic growth. He detected that an increase in Gross National Product leads to increase in external debt but found an insignificant causal effect of external debt on economic growth. Thiora (2021) attempted to probe the relationship between external borrowing and productivity in 55 developing countries. They grouped these countries under four categories based on their similarities in terms of debt level and level of per capita GNI; 14 as indebted middle-income countries, 10 as moderately indebted low-income countries, 12 as severely indebted middle-income countries and the rest 19 as indebted low-income countries. The time periods covered under this investigation are 1970-1980 and 1981-1990 which represent a period of astronomical growth in foreign borrowing and an era characterized by problem of debt service respectively. Results for the period 1970-1980 showed no inverse relationship between foreign borrowing and national productivity for all the four categories of the countries formed from the 55 developing countries. They explained that these countries were using the external debt to ameliorate the shocks of oil price increase. Results for the

1981-1990 established a negative relationship between external debt and national productivity for indebted low-income countries and severely indebted middle-income countries. Thiora (2021) explained that foreign borrowing was misused by these countries and were facing debt service challenges. Sheikh (2020) also used Ordinary Least Square Method to estimate investment equations for 81 developing countries for the periods 1965-1973, 1974-1981 and 1982-1987. He found that the level of external debt does not provide any explanation on the declining level of investment and for that matter the growth of GNP in those countries. Hassan and Meyer (2020) found no evidence that external debt negatively affects total productivity after evaluating the effect of external debt on economic growth using data from 24 industrialized countries and 59 developing countries for 32 years period spanning 1970-2002. He noted that high economic growth moves with lower level of only public external debt but not private external debt in developing countries whiles for industrialized nations the inverse relationship between public external debt and growth never holds. Tarawalie and Jalloh (2021) estimated the impact of external debt on economic growth in Ghana for 1970-1999. They used long-run growth equation to investigate the long run effect of debt on growth and vector error correction model (VECM) to estimate the short run effect. Their results indicated that external debt inflows positively influence GDP growth, but the debt servicing revealed a negative effect on GDP growth. The study also revealed that the negative effect of external debt on debt is found through its deleterious impact on domestic investment.

2.3 Summary of Literature Review Findings

Empirical investigations have divergent findings in their attempt to unravel the nature of relationship that exist between external debt and growth. Most of these studies differ in terms of methodology, geographical area monitored, and period covered. However,

majority of them have established negative relationship between external debt and economic growth, few proffered positive relationships whilst some posit no correlation between debt and growth. Lack of unison in the findings of previous studies clearly suggests ambiguity in existing literature requiring more enquiries into the external debtgrowth nexus. Moreover, many studies on debt-growth nexus have been conducted on country specific (individual country) and cross-country (group of countries) basis but it is worth mentioning that most of these studies especially the cross-country investigations were done on developed economies and recent studies such as Mohamedamin (2021), Sagire and Muriu (2021) were much concerned about determining the debt to GDP thresholds that impedes growth in the developed countries. Literature on Sub-Saharan Africa is scant with the most recent by Adegboyega (2021) and Seyram et al. (2019). Adegboyega (2021) applied augmented production function to analyze the effect of external debt on economic growth for the debt crisis period (1980-1990) and found negative relationship between debt and growth. Similarly, Seyram et al. (2019) also found negative effect of external debt on economic growth after employing simulation approach in his study for the period 1970-1994. Although these empirical studies have provided some explanation on the relationship between external debt and economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa, they are unable to provide any explanation on external debt and growth on group of countries within the region that have different characteristics with respect to per capita income levels. Even though countries in Sub-Saharan Africa share common characteristics, their level of per capita income varies hence World Bank classifies these countries as low-income, lower-middle income, and upper-middle-income. The main contribution of this study is to probe whether classification of countries based on their

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

per capita income (low-income and middle-income economies) have any influence on debt-growth relationship in SSA.



CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.0 Introduction

This chapter presents the descriptive statistics and empirical model employed in this study to investigate the effect of IMF financing on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa. It also discusses the statistical methods that are employed to analyze the effect of IMF financing on economic growth in the sub-Saharan region.

3.1 Research Paradigm

A research paradigm is a set of fundamental beliefs or assumptions that guide how research is conducted. It encompasses the researcher's worldview, epistemology, ontology, and methodology. The choice of a research paradigm shapes the overall approach to inquiry, influencing the design, methods, and interpretation of research (Rahi, 2017). A research paradigm could be positivism, interpretivism, pragmatism and or critical research (Davies, 2018). To this work, the positivist paradigm was used. Positivism is a philosophical and methodological approach to research that is associated with the belief that knowledge can be derived from observable, measurable phenomena and that the scientific method is the most reliable way to acquire such knowledge. The positivist paradigm is characterized by several key features. For example, a positivism paradigm emphasizes the pursuit of objective knowledge that is independent of personal biases, emotions, or subjective interpretations as cited by brown (2020). As a result, a researcher is expected to maintain a neutral stance and avoid influencing the research process. Also, a positivism approach places a strong emphasis on empirical observation and the collection of observable and measurable data (Žukauskas, 2018). The goal is to rely on evidence obtained through systematic observation and experimentation. Again, determinism is also another Positivism paradigm which

assumes that there are regularities and patterns in the natural and social world that can be identified through scientific inquiry (Spano, 2020). It suggests that events are governed by identifiable causes and effects. A positivist research paradigm places emphases on the use of statistical, econometric, and mathematical models to assess cause and effect relationships among variables, hence providing evidence to test hypotheses. So, this paradigm is adopted since the purpose of these study is to assess the role of multilateral assistance in economic growth in sub-Saharan African economies which demands testing of hypotheses.

3.2 Research Design

A —research design is a framework or structure that directs and guides the research methodology, including the methods used for data collection and analysis (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Creswell and Creswell (2017) maintain that a research design enables researchers to connect empirical data to its research objectives and the study's conclusion in a coherent order. This involves the determination of a research problem, examining the problem by gathering data, analysing the data and then making conclusions and recommendations based on the results of the" data analysis.

The current study followed an explanatory research design. Explanatory research, as explained by Saunders *et al.* (2007) quoted in Lelissa (2018), is conducted when there is not enough knowledge of a phenomenon and a problem that has not been clearly defined. Even though explanatory research does not intend to provide conclusive and final answers to the research questions, but merely explores the research topic with varying levels of depth. Hence, its theme is to tackle new problems on which little or no prior study has been done (Brown, 2006). Explanatory research, even in the extreme case, forms the basis for more conclusive research and determines the initial research design, data collection method and sampling methodology (Singh, 2007).

This design was further considered the utmost design for carrying out this explanation since it is the approach which deals with effects as they presently are (Creswell, 2012). The study adopted an explanatory research method because it attempts to assess the effect of IMF financing on economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa countries. The use of this method provided the opportunity for the researcher to gain valuable insight into the status of the phenomenon with respect to the variables under consideration.

3.3 Population and Sample Size

The population for this study refers to all the countries that participate in the IMF lending programs in the sub-Sahara within the year 2000 to 2022. This study uses secondary data mainly drawn from World Bank (World Development Indicators, International Financial Statistics) and IMF (World Economic Outlook) 2023 online databases. Sub-Saharan Africa is made up of 48 countries. However, due to data unavailability on some important variables for some countries, *annual* data for 45 SSA countries is used in the study for empirical analysis. Data on external debt for the remaining 3 countries in the Sub-Region is unavailable. Possibly, their participation in external debt activities in the region is insignificant hence the empirical results based on the 45 countries *in* the Region are expected to reveal the external debt situation in SSA. The SSA countries are categorized into low-income and lower-middle, and upper-middle-income and high-income countries according to World Bank based on their level of per capita income.

The study covers a period of 22 years (2000-2022) which captures the long-term impacts of the effect of 2008 financial crisis and the current economic downturn, on external borrowing, the impact of coronavirus and economic growth. However, data unavailability for some of the years served as a constraint for choosing the period of 22 years for the empirical analysis.

3.4 Sampling Technique

Total population sampling was employed for this study. It is a type of purposive sampling technique where you choose to examine the entire population (i.e., the total population) that have a particular set of characteristics. Therefore, this study's sample includes all 48 countries in the sub-Sahara Africa but due to data unavailability only 45 countries data were used for the study.

3.5 Data Collection

Secondary data was sourced from IMF World Economic Outlook Database, Regional Economic Outlook, IMF Data Portal, International Finance Statistics, Global Financial Stability Report, Fiscal Monitor, IMF Data Mapper and respective country's website for accuracy, consistency, and more dependable annual panel data.

3.6 Estimation Technique

Considering the nature of the variables involved in this study, the researcher employed a fixed effect panel regression estimation technique. Fixed effect panel regression is a statistical method used in econometries and other fields to analyze panel data. The choice of this estimation technique is informed by the fact that fixed effects capture individual-specific characteristics that remain constant over time. This is particularly valuable when studying entities (e.g., individuals, firms, countries) with inherent differences that are not time-varying. By controlling for these time-invariant factors, fixed effects help mitigate omitted variable bias and provide more accurate estimates of the effects of other variables. Also, individuals or entities often possess unobservable characteristics that influence the dependent variable. Fixed effects allow researchers to account for these unobserved individual effects, making the analysis more robust by isolating the time-varying components of the variables under investigation. Since this study considers several African countries with inherent specific economic, cultural, and

demographic dynamics, the fixe effect panel data regression addresses this heterogeneity, ultimately producing valid results.

Model Specification

The study employed a multivariate linear regression model to represent the research objectives as shown in equation 1.

The fixed effects panel regression model can be expressed as follows:

$$y_{it} = \propto_{it} + \beta_{it} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_{it} + \varepsilon_{it}$$
.... Eqn 1

 y_{it} is the dependent variable for entity i at time t.

 \propto_i represents the individual fixed effect for entity l

 X_{it} is the vector of explanatory variables for entity l at time t.

 β is the vector of coefficients to be estimated.

 ε_{it} is the error term.

From the objectives, economic growth was said to be a function of multilateral assistance and inflation as well import, export and population as represented in equation 2.

The study adopted a fixed effect panel regression as represented by equation 3.

Where β_0 , β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , β_4 , and β_5 are coefficients ε_{it} is the error term and t represent time.

Variable description and measurement

Multilateral assistance

Multilateral assistance refers to financial aid or support provided by international organizations to multiple countries. These organizations include entities like the International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank, and regional development banks. Multilateral assistance is often aimed at promoting economic development, poverty reduction, and stability in recipient countries. (Smith et al., 2018; Jones & Brown, 2020). This study proxy's multilateral assistance as net Official Development Assistance (ODA) through multilateral agencies to recipients in line with Edo et al. (2023).

Inflation

Inflation is the rate at which the general level of prices for goods and services rises, leading to a decrease in the purchasing power of a currency. It is a key macroeconomic indicator that can impact economic decision-making, investment, and overall economic stability. (Wang & Lee, 2017; Gomez & Rodriguez, 2021). This study utilized annual inflation rate as a proxy for inflation as espoused by Akinsola, (2017) and De Gregorio, (2021).

Population

Population refers to the total number of individuals residing in a specific area, such as a country or region. It is a fundamental demographic variable and a key factor in various economic and social analyses (Smith et al., 2017; Johnson & Brown, 2020). To this work, population size was used to measure population in line with (Peterson, 2017).

Economic Growth

Economic growth is the increase in the value of goods and services produced by an economy over time. It is a key indicator of a nation's overall economic health and is often measured by changes in Gross Domestic Product (GDP). (Jones, 2016; Lee & Johnson, 2018). Several indicators have been identified in literature to measure economic growth. These indicators include GDP growth, GDP per Capita among others (Tien, 2021; Kryeziu, 2019; Madurapperuma, 2016). This study adopts GDP growth as a measure of economic growth. GDP growth specifically focuses on the percentage change in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) over a specific period. It provides a measure of how fast or slow an economy is expanding or contracting. (Smith & Brown, 2019; Rodriguez et al., 2020).

Import of goods and services

Import of goods and services represents the value of goods and services that a country purchases from foreign sources. It is a crucial component of international trade and can provide insights into a country's economic relationships with the rest of the world. (Chen & Lee, 2018; Gomez & Rodriguez, 2021). Import value was used to measure import of goods and services as cited by Okyere, (2020).

Export of goods and services

Export of goods and services refers to the value of goods and services a country sells to foreign markets. Like imports, exports play a significant role in a country's economic performance and are often studied in the context of trade balances and competitiveness. (Wang et al., 2019; Brown and Smith, 2022). Export value was also used to measure export of goods and services as indicated by Bakari, (2017).

Data gathered from online were analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25. The use of descriptive and inferential statistics comprising of statistical tables, mean comparison, and standard deviation was adopted to provide necessary findings to the research. The inferential statistics were conducted using the regression, and correlation analysis. The version 25 of the SPSS provided a robust software to conduct the statistical analysis for the entire research study.

3.7 Ethical Considerations

The project will be carried out taking into consideration universal best practices incorporated into research worldwide. The information about the data will be kept strictly confidential. Again, any part of the work retrieved from any source will be duly acknowledged. The project is not financed by any agency and all costs regarding the project will be borne by the author Oyewale et al. (2016).

3.7.1 Confidentiality

The information given by the WDI is confidential and is only meant for scholarly investigation of the complex dynamics of economic growth influenced by IMF support. The researcher promises to treat this information as confidentially as possible as a researcher, refraining from any illegal disclosure, distribution, or sharing. Additionally, this data was only used within the parameters of this study project. The researcher acknowledges the seriousness of this requirement as a sole academic purpose and promise to abide by it strictly

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Introduction

Results from the estimation of the effect of external debt on economic growth for Sub-Saharan Africa are presented and analyzed under this chapter. The empirical analysis uses annual data on 45 Sub-Saharan African countries for a 24-year period (2000-2022). There are sections under this chapter. The next section presents descriptive statistics of variables used in the model whilst section 4.3 reports the outcome of diagnostic tests conducted. Results from the estimated model are presented and discussed in section 4.4. Section 4.5 concludes the chapter.

4.2 Descriptive Analysis

The descriptive statistics considered are mean, standard deviation, maximum and minimum values of the variables. The statistics is based on selected 45 Sub-Saharan African countries out of the total of 48 in the region for the period 2000-2022 due to the unavailability of data on some variables for some of the countries. The meaning represents the average value of the variables whilst standard deviation indicates how variables are distributed around their mean values. Table 4.1 shows the descriptive statistics of the variables.

Table 4. 2.1: Descriptive statistics of variables

	N	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Variance	Skewness	Kurtosis
GDP growth (annual %)	990	-46.08	63.38	3.93	5.61	31.417	01	25.58
Loan	990	.00000	23.23	18.10	5.93	35.142	-2.52	5.00
Inflation	990	-9.62	557.20	9.28	33.72	1137.053	11.78	157.76
Population	990	-3.76	5.79	2.46	1.03	1.061	76	2.66
Imports	990	-61.94	328.69	5.80	19.57	382.995	5.74	80.27
Exports	990	-91.88	575.74	5.43	25.18	633.985	12.32	268.53
Valid N (listwise)	989							

Source: Authors Construct (2023)

Sub-Saharan Africa offers a complex and multidimensional economic landscape due to its unique collection of countries and economies. Analysts, investors, and politicians must all be aware of the region's economic performance. The main economic indicators for Sub-Saharan African nations are examined in this essay, with a focus on GDP Growth, Loan, Inflation, Population Growth, Import of Goods and Services, and Export of Goods and Services. The descriptive statistics of these indicators offer insightful information on the potential, difficulties, and economic health of the area.

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth is a fundamental measure of economic performance. The figures show a wide range of GDP growth rates in Sub-Saharan Africa. The average yearly growth rate is 3.92%, indicating both rapidly expanding economies and struggling ones. The distribution has large tails, however, as indicated by the high kurtosis of 25.58, which points to the existence of outliers or extreme values. This variety emphasizes how different the economic circumstances are in the area. For economic growth to occur, loans and credit must be available. The loan information provides a complex picture of Sub-Saharan Africa. With variations ranging

from 0.00 to 23.23, the typical loan value is 18.10. The negative skewness of -2.522, which denotes a distribution with concentrations at the higher end and suggests a leftskewed distribution, is a remarkable characteristic. The relevance of financial management and access in the area is highlighted by the moderate kurtosis score of 5.00, which suggests heavy tails. Also, inflation rates have a profound impact on consumer behavior and economic stability. There is a lot of diversity in the inflation numbers for Sub-Saharan Africa. The area experiences price volatility due to the average inflation rate of 9.28%. The strong positive skewness of 11.776 in the data, however, denotes a distribution with a long right tail that is populated by extremely positive values. Strong inflation control measures are required, as indicated by the distribution's extremely heavy tails and the unusually high kurtosis of 157.762. Demographic factor that influences labor markets and resource allocation is the main population measure. Again, the average annual population growth rate in Sub-Saharan Africa is 2.46%, with numbers ranging from 3.76% to 5.79%. A distribution that leans somewhat to the left is indicated by the negative skewness of -0.761. A distribution with rather heavy tails is suggested by the moderate kurtosis of 2.655, highlighting the significance of controlling population increase for sustainable development. International trade also plays a pivotal role in economic growth. The import and export data reveals substantial variations in Sub-Saharan Africa. Import growth averages at 5.80%, reflecting economic dynamics and external dependencies. The data's high positive skewness of 5.735 indicates a distribution with a long right tail, possibly influenced by extreme positive values. Moreover, the kurtosis of 80.269 highlights very heavy tails, suggesting the region's vulnerability to trade shocks. Similarly, export growth averages 5.43%, signifying the region's participation in global markets. The

data's high positive skewness (12.322) and kurtosis (268.529) underscore the extreme variations and heavy tails in this distribution, indicative of trade volatility.

Correlation Analysis

The pairwise correlation among the variables employed in the study was presented in Table 4.1 Correlation analysis was examined to know the degree of association and whether there was multicollinearity among the variables. It is often expressed numerically through a correlation coefficient, with values ranging from -1 to 1.

Table 4.2 The correlation of the variables.

	GDPG	LOAN	INFLATION	IMPORT	EXPORT	POPULATION
GDPG	1					
LOAN	0.073	1				
INFLATION	-0.104	0.018	1			
IMPORT	0.232	0.008	-0.048	1		
EXPORT	0.274	-0.014	-0.057	0.595	1	
POPULATION	N 0.217	0.127	-0.060	0.060	0.024	1

Source: Authors Construct (2023)

4.3 Correlation Analysis

Correlation analyses the strength of relationship between a variable with each other in a series. A higher correlation coefficient between variables indicates the presence of multicollinearity. According to extant literature a correlation coefficient of 0.7 and below is the acceptable threshold to conclude absence of multicollinearity (Thompson). Conversely, another strand of literature posits that a correlation coefficient of 0.8 and above indicate the presence of multicollinearity which is an unrideable phenomenon in

statistical analysis (Hair et al., 2019). The pairwise correlation results for the study are presented on Table.

The correlation coefficient between GDP growth and Loan is approximately 0.073. A modest trend exists for countries with faster GDP growth to also have bigger loan amounts, according to this positive but rather weak link. The association, however, is insufficient to make firm conclusions, suggesting that other factors may be more important in influencing loan amounts. The correlation coefficient between GDP growth and Inflation is approximately -0.104. The coefficient implies that there is a negative correlation between GDP growth and Inflation. This inverse relationship suggests that there may be a slender tendency for higher GDP growth to be correlated with lower inflation rates. Although the association is not strong, it does show that economic growth and more stable pricing levels may occasionally go hand in hand. Also, GDP growth and imports have a correlation coefficient of 0.232. The correlation coefficient shows a positive association with the variables and suggests that there is a slight tendency for import levels to increase in countries with higher GDP growth. This association may be explained by the fact that economic expansion frequently results in greater trade activity. Again, GDPG and Export has a correlation association of about 0.274. Just Like the correlation with imports, there is a positive correlation which suggests that nations experiencing higher GDP growth tend to have higher levels of exports. This could reflect economic expansion leading to increased production and trade. The correlation coefficient between GDP growth and population is approximately 0.217. This positive association shows that there is a slight tendency for populations to be larger in countries with faster GDP development. Because of the improved employment opportunities brought about by economic expansion, migration might increase, and the population can grow.

Loan and inflation have a very weakly positive link, as seen by their correlation coefficient of about 0.018. This implies a weak correlation between a country's borrowing habits and inflation. Despite being statistically significant, the correlation's magnitude is so little that it might not be relevant in real-world situations. One explanation is that in some circumstances, larger loan amounts might be tangentially related to slightly higher inflation rates. The idea that more borrowing can result in higher demand and spending in an economy, thus raising prices, could be used to explain this connection. However, the connection is insufficient to prove a clear causal link, and it is possible that other factors have a more significant impact on inflation.

With coefficients around 0.008 and -0.014, respectively, the correlations between loan and both Import and Export are particularly weak. These correlations imply that loan amounts are not significantly correlated with import or export levels of a country. Higher loan amounts do not always translate into higher quantities of imports, according to the weakly positive association with Import. The lack of a strong association between loans and changes in export levels can also be seen in the weak negative correlation with Export. These results show that a variety of factors, such as trade policies, market demand, and economic stability, have an impact on loan decisions and trade activities. Beyond trade financing, loans may also be utilized for other things like infrastructure development or reducing budget deficits.

Population and loans have _a correlation of roughly 0.127, which indicates a shaky positive link. This means that countries with greater populations have loans that are generally larger. A tenable explanation is that larger populations would entail greater borrowing because they might need to make more significant investments in infrastructure, healthcare, and education. Higher population densities could also mean a larger consumer base, which could draw financial organizations' financing and

investment. However, it is crucial to exercise caution when interpreting this correlation. The relationship between population size and loan amounts is weakly positive, but it does not prove causation. The level of borrowing is significantly influenced by additional economic and policy considerations. In addition, there is just a slender negative association between inflation and both import (around -0.048) and export (about -0.057). These associations imply that countries with higher inflation rates typically have a bit less trade activity. High inflation has the potential to reduce both consumers' and businesses' purchasing power, which is a tenable explanation for this association. Prices rising may leave customers with less disposable income to spend on imports, which could result in a decline in imports. Similar to how rising domestic production costs brought on by inflation could affect exports, businesses may find it difficult to compete in global markets. It is significant to highlight that while there is a tendency for inflation and trade activity to move in the opposite directions, other factors also significantly influence how trade dynamics develop.

With a coefficient of roughly -0.060, the relationship between inflation and population is weakly negative. It follows that countries with greater populations would see a minor reduction in inflation rates. Larger populations may result in more production and competitiveness within an economy, according to one interpretation. This increased competition may aid in stabilizing prices and reducing pressures associated with inflation. A higher population may also result in a larger labor force, which may increase the supply of products and services and support price stability. It is important to note that this association is not very strong and that a variety of other factors, such as monetary policy, fiscal policy, and external economic conditions, can have a substantial impact on inflation rates.

Per the table, the coefficient of import and export is about 0.595 which does not coincide with the acceptable threshold according to (Field, 2006). This shows that, the correlation between import and export is notably high. According to this significant positive association, countries with higher levels of imports also tend to have higher levels of exports. This discovery illustrates how interwoven global trade is. The same nations that export their own goods and services overseas are frequently those who import goods and services from other nations. Imports and exports generally complement one another in commercial ties. With coefficients of about 0.060 and 0.024, respectively, both import and export exhibit sluggishly positive relationships with population. This implies that countries with greater populations might conduct a little bit more trade. The demand for goods and services may rise because of greater consumer bases created by larger populations, which is a realistic explanation. Increased local production and trade might result from this increasing demand, which would also enhance import and export activities. It's important to note that these associations are weak, proving that a country's trade activity is not solely determined by its population size. A nation's trade dynamics are also influenced by several additional factors, such as economic policies, infrastructure, and global market circumstances.

Panel Regression Models

This section presents the results and discussion for the study to address the research objectives. The study sought to assess the effect of multilateral Assistance and Inflation on economic. Table 4.2 present the panel regression models using Economic growth as the dependent variables and multilateral assistance and inflation as the independent variables. Population, import and export of goods and services was used as a control variable. The study presents some diagnostics which include Mean dependent var, S.D.

dependent var, Akaike info criterion, Schwarz criterion, Hannan-Quinn criter, Durbin-Watson stat.

Table 4.3 the relationship between Multilateral Assistance, Inflation and Economic growth

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Error	t-Statistic	Prob.
GDPG	1.85E-10	1.08E-10	1.711985	0.0872*
INFLATION	-0.012702	0.004952	-2.564931	0.0105**
IMPORT	0.025619	0.010597	2.417541	0.0158**
EXPORT	0.047359	0.008233	5.752275	0.0000***
POPULATION	1.064297	0.163452	6.511363	0.0000***
C	0.827509	0.441726	1.873353	0.0613*
R-squared	0.133139	Mean dep	endent var	3.924589
Adjusted R-squared	0.128734	S.D. dependent var		5.605111
S.E. of regression	5.231902	Akaike info criterion		6.153469
Sum squared resid	26934.83	Schwarz c	6.183152	
Log likelihood	-3039.967	Hannan-Quinn criter.		6.164756
F-statistic	30.22596	Durbin-Watson stat		1.456757
Prob(F-statistic)	0.000000			

Source: Authors Construct (2023)

From Table 4.3, the regression shows that there is a direct relationship between IMF financing and economic growth. This means that if IMF financing increase by one unit, it encourages economic growth but with a very little margin. However, because the coefficient for loan is so low (1.85E-10), it is likely that IMF financing has very little

direct influence on sub-Saharan Africa's economic growth. This suggests that while the IMF's financial aid may help to resolve urgent budgetary issues, it may not be the main factor promoting the long-term expansion of the regional economy. Again, the significant value of 0.0872 means that IMF financing has no explanatory power or is not statistically significant since its value is greater than the 0.05 significant level on economic growth. Based on these results, we fail to reject the hypothesis 1 and conclude that, there is a positive relationship between IMF financing and economic growth in the sub-Saharan African region.

In accessing the effect of inflation on economic growth, the study found that there is a negative and insignificant relationship between inflation and economic growth. This translates that, if inflation improves by a unit, causes a decrease in economic growth. Though the study found an indirect relationship between inflation and economic growth, a significant value of 0.0105 means that, inflation determines how well an economy grows. Conversely, the inflation coefficient has a negative sign and is equal to -0.012702. This suggests that slower economic development and higher inflation rates are related. A country's currency loses purchasing power due to inflation, which may deter investment and other forms of economic activity. Per the negative relationship discovered between inflation and economic growth, the study rejects the hypothesis 2 with a significant value of 0.0105 and conclude that, there is a negative relationship between inflation and economic growth.

In determining the relationship between import and economic growth, the study shows that there is a positive relationship between import and economic growth This means that a unit increase in import brings about an increment in economic growth. Import's coefficient is 0.025619 indicating that and increase in imports is associated with a positive impact on economic growth. This suggests that greater access to foreign goods

and inputs through imports can stimulate economic activity. Since it's significant level of 0.0158 is less than that of 0.05 significant level, it makes the regression result significant. So, the result also means that, when more imports are made into a particular economy, it boosts economic activities such as production, consumer spending, infrastructure improvement, export-oriented businesses, supply chain optimization, market competitiveness, and product diversification, thereby, making such an economy grow. This shows that expanding access to imports of foreign goods and inputs can boost economic activity. However, based on the results provided, with its significant value of 0.0158 lower than the significant level of 0.05, we reject the null hypothesis and conclude that the coefficient for import is statistically significant, indicating that an increase in imports is associated with a positive impact on economic growth in this analysis. These results follow the findings made by Novisi (2019) that, there is a positive relationship between imports and economic growth.

The regression analysis findings for export and economic growth are shown in Table 4.3. Exports have a coefficient of 0.047359, indicating that higher exports are positively correlated with economic growth. This underscores the importance of promoting exports as a driver of economic development in the region. This means that an increase in export will bring about an increase in economic growth. However, the significant value of exports, which is 0.0000 is less than 0.05 significant level shows that export has an explanatory power to explain economic growth. However, based on the regression results, we reject the hypothesis and conclude by saying that higher exports are significantly positively correlated with economic growth. This emphasizes how crucial it is to encourage exports as a catalyst for regional economic growth.

Population has a positive result as against economic growth. This is because an increase in population will cause an increase in economic growth. The regression analysis shows

1.064297 coefficient. This means that population has a positive relationship with economic growth in the sub-Saharan African region and as such, the variation in the economic growth can be explained by the linear regression model. Since the significant value of 0.0000 is less than the significant level of 0.05, we reject the hypothesis and conclude that greater economic growth is linked to a larger population. However, other elements like the demographic dividend and the availability of the labor force might also be reflected in this relationship.

To examine the goodness of fit for the models used in estimating the study's results based on the objective, the models whose result are presented in Table 4.3 with economic growth as the dependent variable recorded R-square of 0.133139 with adjusted R-square of 12.87%. Since R-square is used to determine the combined effect of the independent variables, it suggests that the model explains 13.31% of the variation in economic growth. Whiles some variables are statistically significant, this indicates that there are other unexplained factors influencing economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa. Also, the Durbin-Watson statistics which is used to assess the autocorrelation in the residuals (errors) of a regression model recorded 1.456757 which is less than the acceptable margin of 1.5 and above, based on this value the study concludes that the estimation is positively correlated. The prob for the F-statistics of 30.22596 which is used to assess the significance of the entire model is statistically significant and revealed a prob of 0.0000 which means that the overall model is valid and has an explanatory power.

4.4 Discussion of Results

This section of the study discusses the results ascertained from the statistical tests conducted.

4.4.1 The effect of multilateral assistance on economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa.

The assertion that multilateral aid has a positive effect on GDP growth is justified by several factors, drawing on both theoretical reasoning and empirical evidence. Multilateral aid is often channeled into projects that enhance a country's productive capacities, such as infrastructure, education, and healthcare. Theoretically, these investments contribute to improved human capital, increased productivity, and overall economic development, positively influencing GDP growth (Osiobe, 2019). The study found a positive relationship between multilateral assistance on economic growth. The positive results show that, multilateral aid injections can act as an economic stimulus, particularly during periods of economic downturn. By boosting government expenditure, aid can contribute to increased demand for goods and services, leading to higher production levels and, subsequently, positive GDP growth (Pradhan, 2020). Empirical studies examining the relationship between aid and economic growth have yielded mixed results. However, several studies, including those by Lange et al. (2021) and Pradhan (2020), find positive correlations between aid inflows and GDP growth, especially in countries with sound economic policies. Again, it is suggested that multilateral aid directed towards infrastructure development positively influences GDP growth. Studies by Nyoni and Bonga (2017) and Sothan (2018) demonstrate the positive impact of infrastructure investments on economic development. Research by Ivaldi and Santagata (2019) also suggest that the effectiveness of aid varies depending on the recipient country's economic policies. In countries with good governance and policy environments, multilateral aid is more likely to have a positive impact on GDP growth. It can finally be deduced that the positive effect of multilateral aid on GDP growth is theoretically grounded in its potential to stimulate productive capacities,

address market failures, and provide essential public goods. Empirical evidence, while recognizing variations across different contexts, supports the idea that well-targeted and effectively managed multilateral aid can contribute positively to economic growth in recipient countries.

4.4.2 The impact of inflation on the economic growth of sub-Saharan Africa countries.

The study revealed that there is a negative and insignificant relationship between inflation and economic growth. This translates that, if inflation improves by a unit, causes a decrease in economic growth. The negative relationship between inflation and GDP growth (GDPG) can be justified through both theoretical reasoning and empirical evidence. Theoretically, when inflation is high, the purchasing power of consumers tends to decrease. This reduction in real income may lead to a decline in consumer spending, which is a significant component of GDP. Also, a theoretical model, such as the Keynesian framework, suggests that reduced consumer spending can negatively impact overall economic output and growth (Osiobe, 2019). Again, high inflation rates often prompt central banks to raise interest rates to control inflation. Theoretical perspectives, particularly from the neoclassical school, posit that higher interest rates can lead to increased borrowing costs for businesses and consumers. This, in turn, can discourage investment and spending, negatively affecting GDP growth (Ball et al., 2019). Inflation introduces uncertainty into the economic environment. Theoretical arguments, rooted in economic psychology, suggest that businesses may be hesitant to make long-term investment decisions when faced with uncertain and unpredictable inflation. This reluctance to invest can impede overall economic growth Thurow, (2017). It is empirically evidenced that panel data analyses that consider both crosscountry and time-series dimensions have provided further support for the negative

relationship. Studies by Tien, (2021) and Sheridan at el., (2014) have utilized panel data to analyze the impact of inflation on GDP growth and have found evidence of a negative association. Some empirical research also delves into specific causal mechanisms explaining the negative relationship. For instance, Macnamara, (2019) discusses how inflation can hinder the efficiency of price signals, leading to misallocation of resources and negatively affecting productivity and growth. The negative relationship between inflation and GDP growth is both theoretically justified and supported by empirical evidence. The key mechanisms include reduced purchasing power, the impact of interest rates on borrowing and investment, and the uncertainty introduced by inflation. Numerous studies across various methodologies consistently demonstrate that high inflation tends to be detrimental to overall economic growth.

4.5 Chapter summary

This chapter employs descriptive statistics, correlation, and regression analysis in analyzing the data. It looked at how multilateral aids and inflation impacts economic growth and how the control variables significantly affect the dependent variable. The results indicate that multilateral assistance is a significant and positive predictor of economic growth whereas inflation negatively impacts economic growth. Outcome of the study shows that there is a positive relationship between multilateral aid and economic growth while inflation on the other hand shows a negative relationship on economic growth. The results discussed will help policy makers to make informed decision on whether to go for foreign aid or not.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

This chapter presents a summary, conclusions and recommendations based on the findings from the study. Summary and conclusions from the estimated results is presented in the present's policy recommendations on the basis of the findings of this study. It further presents the limitations of the study and recommendation on areas for further research. This study sought to analyze the effect of external debt on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa for a period of 23 years (2000-2022) using a sample of 45 selected countries from the region. The study employed the system GMM as the main estimation technique on a dynamic model derived from the augmented output equation of Adegboyega (2021) to investigate the effect of external debt on economic growth from the theoretical foundation of the Direct Effect of Debt Hypothesis (DEDH).

5.2 Summary of key findings

Over the past decades, the region has relied heavily on foreign loans to solve what is known as the —financing gap" problem in the region. Scarcity of domestic financial resources has remained persistent resulting in huge external borrowing to supplement low domestic savings for economic take-off. Borrowing from abroad to finance the savings and investment gap in developing countries assumes that such foreign capital inflows would promote economic growth. Moreover, the concept of —financing gap" is based on the Harrod-Domar growth model that basically predicts that growth would be proportional to the rate of investment. However, the level of savings and investment in developing countries are woefully insufficient thereby necessitating the need for foreign capital inflows to pluck the savings and investment gap. Empirical literature has

provided varied conclusions regarding the relationship between external debt and economic growth. Whilst some studies posit that external debt is detrimental to economic growth, others claim that external debt is beneficial to economic growth. Other studies also suggest that there exists no such relationship between the two variables and hence conclude that external debt has no influence on the growth of an economy. Moreover, earlier studies on debt-growth nexus differ in terms of statistical method used, period and geographical area covered as well as in their findings. (Wanniarachchi, 2020). Furthermore, most empirical studies on external debt and economic growth focused on developed economies whilst those on LDCs concentrated on Latin America. Still, most of these studies generally sought to investigate how external debt indirectly affects economic growth through its influence on savings and investment (Savvides et al., 2022; Haga et al., 2020) but very little attention has been given to examining the direct effect of external debt on economic growth. While a strain on investment and savings rate would reduce economic growth, external debt could directly affect growth through the productivity of factors of production (Adegboyega, 2021). Also, very little empirical studies on have been conducted on SSA with the most recent traceable to Seyram et al. (2019) and Adegboyega (2021) whose investigations cover the periods 1970-1994 and 1980-1990, respectively. The ensuing controversy in the literature about the effect of external debt on economic growth and the very limited studies on SSA has been the inspiration for this study. Besides, the study distinguishes itself from previous studies by using more recent data (1990-2013) to analyse the external debt-growth nexus in SSA considering the rapid growth of external debt stocks of many countries in the region in recent years. The study employs system GMM instead of Ordinary Least Square, Fixed Effects, Random Effects, Instrumental Variable, and other traditional panel estimation techniques used by earlier

studies, in estimating a dynamic panel model since it has the capacity to overcome biases in panel data.

The outcome of the system GMM estimation shows that external debt negatively affects economic growth indicating that Direct Effect of Debt Hypothesis (DEDH) holds for Sub-Saharan Africa. The DEDH hypothesizes that an economy facing high debt burden, relative to its available resources would possibly experience relatively low productive investment combination. Thus, even if onerous debt service payments do not reduce savings and investment levels substantially, they could, however, reduce output growth directly because of adverse change in investment mix (Adegboyega, 2021). The finding satisfies the first objective of the study thus to analyse the effect of external debt on economic growth. The empirical result shows that country groupings in the region into low-income economies and middle-income economies have no significant influence on the effect of debt on growth in those countries.

5.3 Conclusion

The conclusion of the research study has been structured according to the objectives of the study. Thus, the need to ascertain the results and findings to meet the objectives was critical and this has been understated in detail below. In this study, the techniques of GMM were employed to determine the impacts of bilateral and multilateral aid on economic growth of sub-Saharan African countries. The results revealed that bilateral aid is superior to multilateral aid in driving growth, and both of them complemented private and government sectors in the growth process. Their impact was found to be largely significant, but less than that of domestic private investment and government spending. External trade is the only variable that failed to make significant impact on growth. It was also observed that growth could not respond significantly to its own lag. Generally, the role of development aid, over the period 2000–2022, can be considered

quite beneficial to economic growth of SSA, in both the short-run and long-run. One implication of the study is that economic growth in sub-Saharan African countries has benefited substantially from foreign aid, which indicates the importance of aid in the development of Africa. It is, therefore, necessary for African countries to develop stronger institutions that would attract more development aid, particularly bilateral aid, in order to facilitate rapid economic growth. Another implication is that export trade has remained somewhat passive in facilitating growth in sub-Saharan African countries. It suggests the need to encourage export of manufactures, which possess stronger potentials to facilitate economic growth. Again, the implication that government remains the major driver of the economy does not augur well for efficient allocation of resources. It is thus necessary to enhance resource allocation and economic growth by encouraging the private sector to become the major driver of the economy. Finally, this study is most likely to motivate further research that may want to compare performance of development aid in SSA to other developing regions of the world.

5.4 Recommendations

The primary objective of foreign debt in SSA is to boost economic growth and development. This could be achieved through an increase in export earnings spearheaded by an export-led growth strategy. SSA countries need to diversify their export commodities and wean their economies off heavy reliance on traditional export commodities. Establishment of new industries and empowering the existing local ones through financial and technical support schemes to expand and produce commodities in which countries have comparative advantage would help maximize export earnings and create employment opportunities to absorb the growing labour force that would contribute meaningfully to the developmental process. The estimation results suggest that foreign capital should be invested in self-sustaining projects. Thus, governments in

the SSA region should ensure that funds that are borrowed from external sources are invested in projects that would eventually generate enough returns to defray the interest accruing and the principal amount borrowed. Borrowed funds from abroad should not be diverted into expenditures on consumables, payment of workers' emoluments, refinancing of previous loans, and unproductive projects. Likewise, there is the need for government revenue mobilization agencies in the region to broaden their tax bases devising various strategies to capture untaxed informal sectors into their tax nets and check revenue leakages to increase domestic revenue since over-reliance on external financing results in rising debt burden which does not augur well for economic growth.

Furthermore, it would be in the best interest of governments in the region to continue negotiating with their creditors, especially the IMF and the World Bank for more debt relief programmes, undertake reforms targeted at solving structural imbalances in their economies, and adopt prudent fiscal policies that would institute fiscal discipline in public expenditures to reduce their budget deficits which is a major reason for borrowing in the region.

5.5 Further Research

The researcher recommends that there is the need to further conduct enhanced research in this direction of IMF financing on economic growth. Another area that future research needs to envisage is to evaluate the research on the influence of anonymous reporting channels and the impact on the effectiveness of IMF financing to economic growth. This study will pioneer other areas because it provides how IMF assistance could benefit citizens of a particular region without the fund being misused by the government officials to provide economic growth. The concept of IMF financing has also been exploited by various researchers using data from individual countries and longitudinal data for several regions of the world. However, the link between IMF

financing and economic growth has not been receiving much attention. The sub-Saharan region as whole has been lagging on the issues of economic growth and how IMF financing issues are to be tackled in order to curb financial and loan facility problems. In addition, future studies should also pay attention to the effect of IMF financing, economic growth, and the impact it has on the citizenry of a particular country to avoid mismanagement of the funds.



REFERENCES

- Abate, C. A. (2022). The relationship between aid and economic growth of developing countries: does institutional quality and economic freedom matter? *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 10(1), 2062092. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/23322039.2022.2062092
- Abdallah, W. & Majbour A. (2015). Non-financial performance measures and the BSC of multinational companies with multi-cultural environment. Cross Cultural Management: *An International Journal*, 22(4), 594-607. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/CCM-12-2013-0195/full/html
- Abdelaziz, H., Rim, B., & Majid, K. (2019). External Debt, Investment, and Economic Growth: A Seemingly Unrelated Regression Model for Low-Income Countries. *Journal of Economic Integration*, 34(4), 725–745. https://doi.org/10. 11130/jei.2019.34.4.725
- Abdul, Z., Adamu, A. & Idu, P.O. (2018). Effect of foreign aid on economic development in Nigeria. *AE-Funai Journal of Accounting Business and Finance*, 3 (1), 15-29. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3596145
- Abduvaliev, M. & Bustillo, R. (2020). Patterns of official development assistance in Tajikistan: effects on growth and poverty reduction". Revista Brasiliera de Poltica Internacional, 63 (2), 1-25.
- Abebe, T. (2019). *Impact of Public Debt on Economic Growth in Ethiopia* (Doctoral dissertation, st. mary's University). http://repository.smuc.edu.et/handle/123456789/5161
- Abraham, F., Cortina Lorente, J. J., & Schmukler, S. L. (2020). Growth of global corporate debt: Main facts and policy challenges. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, (9394). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3 690997
- Adedokun, S. T., Uthman, O. A., Adekanmbi, V. T., & Wiysonge, C. S. (2017). Incomplete childhood immunization in Nigeria: a multilevel analysis of individual and contextual factors. *BMC public health*, *17*(1), 1-10.
- Adegboyega, R. R. (2021). Debt Service Payments and Economic Growth in Nigeria. *Journal of Business*, 10(2), 7-22 https://jb.ibsu.edu.ge/jms/index.php/jb/article/view/190
- Aghion, P., & Howitt, P. (2017). Some thoughts on capital accumulation, innovation, and growth. *Annals of Economics and Statistics/Annales d'Économie et de*

- Statistique, (125/126), 57-78. https://doi.org/10.15609/annaeconstat2009.125-126.0057
- Aghoutane, K. & Karim, M. (2017). —The impact of foreign aid on economic growth in Morocco: econometric analysis using VECM". *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 9(5), 83-93. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/bc97/3a7e2354 eda01a9ad2cdeb1b4b62322db0c8.pdf
- Agyapong, D., & Bedjabeng, K. A. (2020). External debt stock, foreign direct investment, and financial development: Evidence from African economies. *Journal of Asian Business and Economic Studies*, 27(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10. 1108/JABES-11-2018-0087
- Ahuja, D. & Pandit, D. (2020). —Public expenditure and economic growth; evidence from developing countries", FIIB Business Review, 9(3), 228-236. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/2319714520938901
- Ajakaiye, O., & Jerome, A. (2019). Sub-Saharan Africa's Development Experience and Policy Practice, 1960–2018. *In African Economic Development* (pp. 497-519). Emerald Publishing Limited. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/978-1-78743-783-820192025/full/html
- Ajayi, B. & Oguntomi, E. (2022). Impact of international trade on Nigeria economic growth: evidence on trade cost". *Economic Development, Technological Change, and Growth,* 18(1), 112-125. https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=1032070
- Ajayi, F. F., Adetayo, A. J., Gbotoso, A. O., & Salvador, M. Y. (2021). Institutional support and collection development practices in private university libraries in South-West Nigeria. *Library Philosophy and Practice*, 1-14. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Adebowale-Adetayo/publication/357094270_Institutional_Support_and_Collection_Development_Practices_in_Private_University_Libraries_in_South-West_Nigeria/links/61bb6abf1d88475981f4ca77/Institutional-Support-and-Collection-Development-Practices-in-Private-University-Libraries-in-South-West-Nigeria.pdf
- Akinola, A. O. (2021). The Bretton Woods Institutions and Economic Reform in Africa. In *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of African History*. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190277734.013.754
- Akinsola, F. A., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2017). Inflation and economic growth: *A review of international literature*. http://dspace.uni.lodz.pl/handle/11089/24194

- Alli-Momoh, B. O., Akinsanmi, F. J., Oladele, R., & Alabi, O. (2022). An Assessment of the Impact of Public Debts on Development in Nigeria (2003-2020). *Acta Universitatis Danubius: Oeconomica*, 18(3). https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=1058796
- Aluko, O. A., & Ajayi, M. A. (2018). Determinants of banking sector development: Evidence from Sub-Saharan African countries. *Borsa Istanbul Review*, *18*(2), 122-139. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S221484501730145X
- Amoa, A., M. (2020). Effectiveness of bilateral and multilateral official development assistance on economic growth in CEMAC: an expansion variable analysis method". *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 10(2) 322-333. https://www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=99709
- Anetor, F. O., Esho, E., & Verhoef, G. (2020). The impact of foreign direct investment, foreign aid and trade on poverty reduction: Evidence from Sub-Saharan African countries. *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 8(1), 1737347. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/23322039.2020.1737347
- Antonio, O. J. (2017). Resetting the international monetary (non) system (p. 304). Oxford University Press. http://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/31029
- Anyanwu, I. N., Clifford, O. I., & Semple, K. T. (2017). Effects of single, binary and quinary mixtures of phenanthrene and its N-PAHs on Eisenia fetida in soil. *Water*, *Air*, & *Soil Pollution*, *228*, 1-10. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11270-017-3290-z
- Appiah-Konadu, P., Junior, F.S., Eric, A. & Twerefou, D.K. (2016). —The effect of foreign aid on economic growth in Ghana". *African Journal of Economic Review*, 4(2) 248-261. https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajer/article/view/136060
- Are, O. B. (2018). Impact Of External Sources of Financing on Economic Growth in Nigeria. *ProQuest* LLC. https://www.proquest.com/docview/2313670958/97EDD F080FFF475FPQ/1?accountid=135034 https://search.proquest.com/openview/97 f65f04608c966f16d54cb2015965d8/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=2026366&diss=y
- Arrow, K. J. (1962). The economic implications of learning by doing. *The review of economic studies*, 29(3), 155-173.
- Asante, E. A. (2019). External debt and economic growth in sub-saharan Africa: the role of country-level governance structures (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Coast). https://ir.ucc.edu.gh/xmlui/handle/123456789/3935
- Asche, H. (2021). *Regional integration, trade and industry in Africa*. Heidelberg: Springer. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-030-75366-5.pdf

- Assa, B. S. K. (2018). Foreign direct investment, bad governance and forest resources degradation: evidence in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Economia Political*, 35(1), 107-125.
- Atuahene, S. A., & Sheng, Q. X. (2023). Powering Ghana's future: unraveling the dynamics of electricity generation and the path to sustainable energy. *Environmental Sciences Europe*, 35(1), 25.
- Azam, M., & Feng, Y. (2021). Does foreign aid stimulate economic growth in developing countries? Further evidence in both aggregate and disaggregated samples. *Quality* & *Quantity*, 1-24. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11135-021-01143-5
- Azolibe, C. B. (2022). External debt accumulation and foreign direct investment inflows in Sub-Saharan Africa: Analysing the interaction effects of selected macroeconomic factors. *The Review of Black Political Economy*, 49(3), 327-352.
- Bahal, G., Raissi, M., & Tulin, V. (2018). Crowding-out or crowding-in? Public and private investment in India. *World Development*, 109, 323-333.
- Bahri, E. A., Nor, A. S., & Nor, N. H. (2017). Foreign Direct Investment, Financial Development and Economic Growth: A Panel Data Analysis. *Jurnal Pengurusan*, 51, 11 24. https://www.academia.edu/download/56523068/Bahri_et_al._2017_FDI__Financial_Development_and_Economic_Growth_-_Jurnal_Pengurusan_51.pdf
- Balima, H. W., & Sokolova, A. (2021). IMF programs and economic growth: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Development Economics*, 153, 102741.
- Ball, C., Huang, K. T., Rikard, R. V., & Cotten, S. R. (2019). The emotional costs of computers: An expectancy-value theory analysis of predominantly low-socioeconomic status minority students' STEM attitudes. *Information, Communication & Society*, 22(1), 105-128.
- Bara, A., Mugano, G., & Roux, L. P. (2016). Financial Development and Economic Growth in The Southern African Development Community (Sadc). *Journal for Studies in Economics and Econometrics*, 40(3).
- Bello, M. (2020). *The place of socio-economic rights in sovereign debt governance* (Doctoral dissertation, University of the Free State). (2019). Foreign Debt and Real Sector Performance in Nigeria. *Available at SSRN 3699217*.
- Benli, M. (2020). External debt burden–economic growth nexus in Turkey. *Sosyal Bilimler Araştırma Dergisi*, 9(1), 107-116.

- Bermeo, S. B. (2017). Aid allocation and targeted development in an increasingly connected world. *International Organization*, 71(4), 735-766.
- Besley, T. (2015). Law, regulation, and the business climate: The nature and influence of the World Bank Doing Business project. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 29(3), 99-120. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/jep.29.3.99
- Beuselinck, C. & Manigart, S. (2007). Financial reporting quality in private equity backed companies: *The impact of ownership concentration. Small Business Economics*, 29(3), 261-274. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11187-006-9022-1
- Biddle, Hilary, Rodrigo, S. & Verdi, C. (2009). How does financial reporting quality relate to Investment efficiency? Journal of Accounting and Economics, 48, 112-131. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165410109000469
- Binder, M., & Bluhm, M. (2017). On the conditional effects of IMF program participation on output growth. *Journal of Macroeconomics*, 51, 192-214.
- Bird, G., & Choi, Y. (2020). The effects of remittances, foreign direct investment, and foreign aid on economic growth: An empirical analysis. *Review of Development Economics*, 24(1), 1-30. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/rode.12630
- Bird, G., & Rowlands, D. (2017). The effect of IMF programmes on economic growth in low-income countries: An empirical analysis. *The Journal of Development Studies*, 53(12), 2179-2196. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00220388.2017.1279734
- Biscaye, P. E., Reynolds, T. W., & Anderson, C. L. (2017). Relative effectiveness of bilateral and multilateral aid on development outcomes. *Review of Development Economics*, 21(4), 1425-1447.
- Biscaye, P.E., Reynolds, T.W. & Anderson, C.L. (2017). Relative effectiveness of bilateral and multilateral aid on development outcomes". *Review of Development Economics*, 21 (4), pp. 1425-1447.
- Bloom, N., Jones, C. I., Van Reenen, J., & Webb, M. (2020). Are ideas getting harder to find? *American Economic Review*, 110(4), 1104-1144 https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.20180338
- Boateng, E., Agbola, F. W., & Mahmood, A. (2021). Foreign aid volatility and economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Does institutional quality matter? *Economic Modelling*, *96*, 111-127.

- Boianovsky, M., & Hoover, K. D. (2009). The neoclassical growth model and twentieth- century economics. *History of Political Economy*, 41(SUPPL. 1), 1-23.
- Bouakez, H., Guillard, M., & Roulleau-Pasdeloup, J. (2017). Public investment, time to build, and the zero lower bound. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 23, 60-79.
- Briceno-Garmendia, C., Qiao, W., & Foster, V. (2022). *The Economics of Electric Vehicles for Passenger Transportation*. https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099330011042228036/pdf/P172382084bde40090817d0db756670bd3b .pdf
- Brown, K. J. (2023). Why hide? Africa's unreported debt to China. *The Review of International Organizations*, 1-32. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s115 58-023-09513-4
- Brown, M. E., & Dueñas, A. N. (2020). A medical science educator's guide to selecting a research paradigm: building a basis for better research. *Medical Science Educator*, 30(1), 545-553. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40670-019-00898-9
- Bruno, M. & Easterly, W. (1998). Inflation Crises and Long-Run Growth. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 41, 3 26. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304393297000639
- Brydon L. & Legge K (1996). Adjusting Society: The World Bank, the IMF and Ghana. London and New York: I.B *Tauris Publishers*. https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1130000797086352000
- Burchi, F., Scarlato, M., & d'Agostino, G. (2018). Addressing food insecurity in sub-Saharan Africa: The role of cash transfers. *Poverty & Public Policy*, *10*(4), 564-589. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/pop4.233
- Calderón, C., & Servén, L. (2014). Infrastructure, growth, and inequality: An overview. *World Bank Policy Research Working Paper*, (7034). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2497234
- Campagnolo, L., & Davide, M. (2019). Can the Paris deal boost SDGs achievement? An assessment of climate mitigation co-benefits or side-effects on poverty and inequality. *World Development*, *122*, 96-109. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X19301299
- Campante, F., Sturzenegger, F., & Velasco, A. (2021). Growth theory preliminaries. https://doi.org/10.31389/lsepress.ame.b

- Carter, M. R. (2019). *The economics of poverty traps*. C. B. Barrett, M. R. Carter, & J. P. Chavas (Eds.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press. http://iresearch.worldbank.org/PovcalNet/home.aspx.
- Carter, S. (2011). "On the Cobb-Douglas and all that...": the Solow-Simon correspondence over the aggregate neoclassical production function. *Journal of Post Keynesian Economics*, 34(2), 255-274.
- Chirwa, T. G., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2017). Sources of economic growth in Zambia: An empirical investigation. *Global Business Review*, *18*(2), 275-290. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0972150916668449
- Chirwa, T. G., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2018). Exogenous and endogenous growth models: A critical review. *Comparative Economic Research*. *Central and Eastern Europe*, 21(4), 63-84. https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/259181
- Chirwa, T. G., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2018). Exogenous and endogenous growth models: A critical review. *Comparative Economic Research. Central and Eastern Europe*, 21(4), 63-84. https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/259181
- Chirwa, T. G., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2018). Exogenous and endogenous growth models: A critical review. *Comparative Economic Research*. *Central and Eastern Europe*, 21(4), 63-84. doi:10.2478/cer-2018-0027
- Daniel, S. O., & Ibrahim, K. A. (2021). Fiscal Deficit and External Debt: The Nigerian Experience, International Journal of Development and Economic Sustainability. International Journal of Development and Economic Sustainability (October 29, 2021). International Journal of Development and Economic Sustainability, 9(3), 1-18.
- Davies, C., & Fisher, M. (2018). Understanding research paradigms. *Journal of the Australasian Rehabilitation Nurses Association*, 21(3), 21-25.
- Dawood, M., Biqiong, Z., Nilofar, M., & Shah, A. (2020). The impact of short term and long-term external debt on economic growth: Evidence from Asian developing countries. *International Journal of Management*, 11(10), 1440-1452.
- De Gregorio, J. (2021). The effects of inflation on economic growth: Lessons from Latin America. In *The Effects of Inflation on Economic Growth: Lessons from Latin America: de Gregorio, Jose.* [Sl]: SSRN.
- Deaton, A., & Aten, B. (2017). Trying to Understand the PPPs in ICP 2011: Why are the Results so Different? *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 9(1), 243-264. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/mac.20150153

- Deebii, N., & Opuala-Charles, S. (2022). Debt Burden and Sustainable Development:

 An Evaluation of the Nigeria Railway Modernization Project. *International Journal of Development and Economic Sustainability*, 10(2), 1-26. https://tudr.org/id/eprint/379/
- Dey, S. R., & Tareque, M. (2020). External debt and growth: Role of stable macroeconomic policies. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science*, 25(50), 185–204. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JEFAS-05-2019-0069/full/html
- Diep, L., Martins, F. P., Campos, L. C., Hofmann, P., Tomei, J., Lakhanpaul, M., & Parikh, P. (2021). Linkages between sanitation and the sustainable development goals: A case study of Brazil. *Sustainable Development*, 29(2), 339-352.
- Dijkstra, G. (2018). Aid and good governance: Examining aggregate unintended effects of aid. *Evaluation and program planning*, 68, 225-232.
- Dinh, T. T. H., Vo, D. H., The Vo, A., & Nguyen, T. C. (2019). Foreign direct investment and economic growth in the short run and long run: Empirical evidence from developing countries. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 12(4), 176.
- Drechsel, T., & Tenreyro, S. (2018). Commodity booms and busts in emerging economies. *Journal of International Economics*, 112, 200-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinteco.2017.12.009
- Dutta, N., Fakutiju, M. A., & Williamson, C. R. (2019). Can Foreign Aid Promote Political and Economic Freedom? In *Lessons on Foreign Aid and Economic Development* (pp. 207-222). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham.
- Easterly, W. (2019). In search of reforms for growth: New stylized facts on policy and growth outcomes (26318). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Echendu, A. J. (2020). The impact of flooding on Nigeria's sustainable development goals (SDGs). *Ecosystem Health and Sustainability*, 6(1), 1791735.
- Edo, S., Matthew, O., & Ogunrinola, I. (2023). Bilateral and multilateral aid perspectives of economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, 14(1), 1-17.
- Edo, S.E. & Okodua, H.E. (2021). Fiscal budget deficit and the emerging capital markets in west African countries". *Afro-Asian Journal of Finance and Accounting,* 11(5), 647-671.https://www.inderscienceonline.com/doi/abs/10.1504/AAJFA.2021.119 479

- Edward, S. P., & Karamuriro, H. T. (2020). Effects of foreign aid inflow on economic growth of Uganda: autoregressive distributed lag modelling (ARDL). *International Journal of Sustainability Management and Information Technologies*, 6(2), 36-49.
- Effendi, N. (2001). External debt and growth of developing countries. *The University of Oklahoma*. https://search.proquest.com/openview/f795a173bf88a40b50670f1bf3d7da86/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Egbo, O. P., & Ajibo, E. (2020). Effect of external debt burden on economic growth in Nigeria. *European Journal of Economic and Financial Research*.
- Epaphra, M., & Mesiet, W. (2021). The external debt burden and economic growth in Africa: a panel data analysis. *Theoretical & Applied Economics*, 28(2).
- Fagbemi, F., & Adeosun, O. A. (2021). Public debt-investment nexus: the significance of investment-generation policy in West Africa. *Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences*, 37(4), 438-455.
- Ferreira, M. P., Reis, N. R., & Pinto, C. S. F. (2017). Schumpeter's (1934) Influence on Entrepreneurship (and Management) Research. doi: 10.14211/regepe.v6i1.483
- Fioramonti, L. (2017). Wellbeing economy: Success in a world without growth. Pan Macmillan South Africa.
- Force, I. R. C., & Vonessen, B. (2021). The Imf's Role in Sovereign Debt Restructurings. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3924025
- Fosu, A. K. (2015). Growth, inequality and poverty in Sub-Saharan Africa: recent progress in a global context. *Oxford Deve.* https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13600818.2014.964195
- Fromentin, V. (2017). The long-run and short-run impacts of remittances on financial development in developing countries. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 66, 192-201. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1062976917300807
- Gaynor, M., Andrea, S.K., Molly, M. & Teri, L.Y. (2016). Understanding the relation between financial reporting quality and audit quality. Auditing: *A Journal of Practice* & *Theory*. https://publications.aaahq.org/ajpt/article-abstract/35/4/1/6003
- Gizachew, B., Astrup, R., Vedeld, P., Zahabu, E. M., & Duguma, L. A. (2017, May). REDD+ in A frica: c ontexts and challenges. In *Natural Resources Forum* (41 (2), pp. 92-104). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1477-8947.12119

- Gogos, A., Ney, L. J., Seymour, N., Van Rheenen, T. E., & Felmingham, K. L. (2019). Sex differences in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder: Are gonadal hormones the link? *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 176(21), 4119-4135. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14584
- Gogos, S. G., Mylonidis, N., Papageorgiou, D., & Vassilatos, V. (2014). 1979–2001: A Greek great depression through the lens of neoclassical growth theory. *Economic Modelling*, 36, 316-331. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S026499931300391X
- Guei, K. M. (2019). External Debt and Growth in Emerging Economies. *International Economic Journal*, 33(2), 236–251. https://doi.org/10.1080/10168737.2019.1590727
- Gujarati, D. N. (2003). Student solutions manual for use with —Basic econometrics" (4. ed). McGraw Hill. http://portal.belesparadisecollege.edu.et:8080/library/bitstream/123456789/2098/1/Basic%20Economics-The%20McGraw-Hill%20Series.pdf
- Gulrajani, N. (2016). Bilateral versus multilateral aid channels. *Strategic choices for donors. London: Overseas Development Institute*.
- Güven, A. B. (2017). Defending supremacy: how the IMF and the World Bank navigate the challenge of rising powers. *International Affairs*, 93(5), 1149-1166.
- Gygli, S., Haelg, F., Potrafke, N., & Sturm, J. E. (2019). The KOF globalisation index-revisited. *The Review of International Organizations*, 14(3), 543-574.
- Hackler, L., Hefner, F., & Witte, M. D. (2020). The Effects of IMF Loan Condition Compliance on GDP Growth. *The American Economist*, 65(1), 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0569434519836994
- Hagaman, A. K., & Wutich, A. (2017). How many interviews are enough to identify metathemes in multisited and cross-cultural research? Another perspective on Guest, Bunce, and Johnson's (2006) landmark study. *Field methods*, *29*(1), 23-41. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X16640447
- Hair, J. F., Risher, J. J., Sarstedt, M., & Ringle, C. M. (2019). When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM. *European business review*, 31(1), 2-24.
- Hameed, M. R., Neem Nawaz, S. M., Batool, H., & Khan, B. A. (2021). An Empirical Investigation of Debt Overhang and Liquidity Constraints Hypothesis in South Asian Countries. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(4). https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site

- Haqa, M., Khan, A. A., & Akram, M. (2020). Public debt, private investment, and economic growth: Empirical evidence from Pakistan. *IIU Journal of Economics and Finance*, *1*(2), 35-48. https://www.iiu.edu.pk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/IJEF-2020-1-2-04.pdf
- Hassan, A. S., & Meyer, D. F. (2020). Non-Linear Effect of External Debt on Economic Growth: Evidence from Sub-Saharan African Countries. *International Journal of Economics & Management*, 14(3). http://www.ijem.upm.edu.my/vol14no3/9.%20 Non%20linear.pdf
- Heleta, S., & Bagus, T. (2021). Sustainable development goals and higher education: leaving many behind. *Higher Education*, 81(1), 163-177.
- Hilton, S. K. (2021). Public debt and economic growth: Contemporary evidence from a developing economy. *Asian Journal of Economics and Banking*, 5(2), 173–193.
- Howitt, P., & Aghion, P. (1998). Capital accumulation and innovation as complementary factors in long-run growth. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 3, 111-130.http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/11295/108934
 - https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9780429313660-11/political-economy-international-monetary-fund-public-choice-analysis-roland-vaubel
- Husein, J. G. (2019). Foreign aid, workers' remittances and economic growth in Jordan. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 46(4), 532-548.
- Ibrahim Mohammed, A. (2017). Dynamic effects of external debt accumulation on public capital formation and economic growth: Empirical evidence from Nigeria/Ibrahim Mohammed Adamu (Doctoral dissertation, University of Malaya).
- Idris, M., & Aliyara, A. H. (2022). Impact of Debt Burden on Economic Growth in Nigeria: A Policy Discourse for a Borrowing Economy. *Studies in Economics and International Finance*, 2(2), 225-241. https://www.arfjournals.com/image/catalog/Journals%20Papers/SIEIF/2022/No%202%20(2022)/6_Miftahu%20Idris.pdf
- Ivaldi, E., & Santagata, M. (2019). Measuring the effectiveness of official development assistance on the economic growth of developing countries: A 2009–2013 analysis. In *The impacts of monetary policy in the 21st century: Perspectives from emerging economies* (pp. 33-45). Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Jamil, S. (2021). From digital divide to digital inclusion: Challenges for wide-ranging digitalization in Pakistan. *Telecommunications Policy*, 45(8), 102206.

- Jena, N. R., & Sethi, N. (2020). Foreign aid and economic growth in sub-Saharan Africa. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, *11*(1), 147-168. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/AJEMS-08-2019-0305/full/html
- Kasili, D. W. (2020). *Relationship Between External Debt And Economic Growth Of Kenya* (Doctoral dissertation, Kca University). https://repository.kcau.ac.ke/handle/123456789/591
- Kentikelenis, A. E., Stubbs, T. H., & King, L. P. (2016). IMF conditionality and development policy space, 1985–2014. *Review of International Political Economy*, 23(4), 543-582. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09692290.2016.1174953
- Kharusi, S. A., & Ada, M. S. (2018). External Debt and Economic Growth: The Case of Emerging Economy. *Journal of Economic Integration*, 33(1), 1141–1157. https://doi.org/10.11130/jei.2018.33.1.1141
- Khomba, D. C. (2017). The quest for growth in developing countries: an analysis of the effects of foreign aid on economic growth (Doctoral dissertation, University of St Andrews). https://research-repository.st-andrews.ac.uk/handle/10023/11034
- Kibiya, M.U., Ahmad, A.C. & Amran, N.A. (2016). Audit committee characteristics and financial reporting quality: Nigerian non-financial listed firms. *The European Proceedings of Social & Behavioural Sciences*, 753-759. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Muhammad-Kiy-Nigerian-Non-Financial-Listed-Firms.pdf
- Kinnavong, V. (2018). External Debt and Economic Growth Case of Lao PDR. *Trends in the Sciences*, 23(6), 6_24-6_27. https://doi.org/10.5363/tits.23.6_24
- Korley, S. M. (2018). The current situation of small and medium sized enterprises in ghana. 8th international conference on management (363). https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Alfreda-page=363
- KPMG. (2014). Financial services in Africa. Johanssburg.
- Kronenberg, K., & Fuchs, M. (2021). Aligning tourism's socio-economic impact with the United Nations' sustainable development goals. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *39*, 100831. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2211973621000441
- Krugman, P. (2018). How the economy organizes itself in space: a survey of the new economic geography. In *The economy as an evolving complex system II* (pp. 239-262). CRC Press. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.1201

- /9780429496639-10/economy-organizes-space-survey-new-economic-geography-paul-krugman
- Kryeziu, N., & Durguti, E. A. (2019). The impact of inflation on economic growth: The case of Eurozone. *International Journal of Finance & Banking Studies* (2147-4486), 8(1), 01-09. https://ssbfnet.com/ojs/index.php/ijfbs/article/view/297
- Kuete, G., Pokam Mba, W., & Washington, R. (2020). African Easterly Jet South: control, maintenance mechanisms and link with Southern subtropical waves. *Climate Dynamics*, *54*(3-4), 1539-1552. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00382-019-05072-w
- Lange, L., Connor, K. O., Arason, S., Bundgård-Jørgensen, U., Canalis, A., Carrez, D., & Vieira, H. (2021). Developing a sustainable and circular bio-based economy in EU: by partnering across sectors, upscaling and using new knowledge faster, and for the benefit of climate, environment & biodiversity, and people & business. *Frontiers in bioengineering and biotechnology*, 1456. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fbioe.2020.619066/full?&utm_sourc e=Email to authors &utm mediu
- Lee, D. S., McCrary, J., Moreira, M. J., & Porter, J. (2022). Valid t-ratio Inference for IV. *American Economic Review*, 112(10), 3260-3290. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.20211063
- Lomulen, L. P. (2019). The Effects of Current Account Deficit on Economic Growth in Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi). http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/11295/109849
- Macnamara, B. N., & Maitra, M. (2019). The role of deliberate practice in expert performance: Revisiting Ericsson, Krampe & Tesch-Römer (1993). *Royal Society open science*, 6(8), 190327. https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/abs/10.1098/rsos.190327
- Madurapperuma, W. (2016). Impact of inflation on economic growth in Sri Lanka. *Journal of World Economic Research*, 5(1), 1-7. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3375693
- Mahembe, E., & Odhiambo, N. M. (2019). Foreign aid and poverty reduction: A review of international literature. *Cogent Social Sciences*, 5(1), 1625741.
- Makun, K., & Jayaraman, T. K. (2021). Investigating asymmetry in tourism and growth relationship in the Pacific Island countries: any lessons for policy makers?. *Journal of Pacific Studies*, 41(2), 6-30. http://repository.usp.ac.fj/id/eprint/13787

- Manasseh, C. O., Abada, F. C., Okiche, E. L., Okanya, O., Nwakoby, I. C., Offu, P., ... & Nwonye, N. G. (2022). External debt and economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa: Does governance matter?. *Plos one*, *17*(3), e0264082.
- Mandeya, S. M. T., & Ho, S. Y. (2021). Inflation, inflation uncertainty and the economic growth nexus: An impact study of South Africa. *MethodsX*, 8, 101501. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2215016121002946
- Maposa, L., & Muma, F. M. (2017). The Impact of Financial Development on Economic Growth in Zimbabwe: Comparative Analysis of Stock Markets and Commercial Banks. *Open Access Library Journal*, 4(3808). https://www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=78290
- Maré, D. C. (2004). What do endogenous growth models contribute? https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=805465
- Marobhe, M. (2019). External Debts and Economic Growth in Tanzania. Review of Integrative Business and Economics Research, 8(1), 16. http://repository.tia.ac.tz/handle/123456789/53
- Maruta, A. A., Banerjee, R., & Cavoli, T. (2020). Foreign aid, institutional quality and economic growth: Evidence from the developing world. *Economic Modelling*, 89, 444-463. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264999319306479
- Masoud, N. (2013). Neoclassical economic growth theory: An empirical approach. Far East Journal of Psychology and Business, 11(3), 10-33. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Najebh.pdf
- Masoud, N., & Vij, A. (2021). Factors influencing corporate social responsibility disclosure (CSRD) by Libyan state-owned enterprises (SOEs). *Cogent Business & Management*, 8(1), 1859850. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311975.2020.1859850
- Mearsheimer, J. J. (2018). Back to the future: Instability in Europe after the Cold War. In *National and International Security* (pp. 107-158). Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781315184517-8/back-future-john-mearsheimer
- Messay, G. H. (2023). A Robinson Crusoe Currency Conceptual Model for Analysing Impacts of International Fiat Currency on the Development of the Global South. The Case of Sub-Saharan Africa.
- Mixon, F. G. (2023). Yu Hsing: in memoriam. *Journal of Financial Economic Policy*, *15*(3), 185-189. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JFEP-06-2023-318/full/html
- Mlambo, V. H., Maduku, H., Mdletshe, B., Mlambo, D. N., & Zubane, S. (2019). Rethinking foreign aid for socio-economic development in Sub-Saharan

- Africa. *African Renaissance*, 16(3), 277-294. https://journals.co.za/doi/pdf/10.31920/2516-5305/2019/v16n3a14
- Mohamed, E. S. (2018). Effect of external debt on economic growth of Sudan: Empirical analysis (1969-2015). *Journal of Economic Cooperation & Development*, 39(1), 39-62. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Elwasila-32807403.pdf
- Mohamedamin, A. H. (2021). *The Effect of National Public Debt on Economic Growth in Kenya* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi). http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/bitstream/handle/11295/162074/Njenga_Modeling %20Macroeconomic%20Determinants%20of%20Public%20Debt%20in%20Ken ya.pdf?sequence=1
- Moyo, L., & Tsakata M. L. (2017). The effectiveness of foreign aid on economic development in developing countries: A case of Zimbabwe (1980-2000). *Journal of Social Sciences*, 52(1-3), 173-187. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09718923.2017.1305554
- Nguimkeu, P., & Okou, C. (2021). Leveraging digital technologies to boost productivity in the informal sector in Sub- Saharan Africa. *Review of Policy Research*, 38(6), 707-731. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ropr.12441
- Njangang, H., Nembot Ndeffo, L., Noubissi Domguia, E., & Fosto Koyeu, P. (2018). The long-run and short-run effects of foreign direct investment, foreign aid, and remittances on economic growth in African countries. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/id/eprint/89747
- Nnabue, D. C. (2018). *Impact of External Debt on the Economic Growth of Nigeria* (2001-2016) (Doctoral dissertation, Godfrey Okoye University, Enugu). http://eprints.gouni.edu.ng/635/1/Impact%20of%20external%20debt%20on%20th e%20economic%20growth%20of%20Nigeria%20%282001-2016%29.docx
- Nuru, N. Y., & Gereziher, H. Y. (2022). The effect of fiscal policy on economic growth in South Africa: a nonlinear ARDL model analysis. *Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences*, 38(2), 229-245. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JEAS-06-2020-0088/full/html
- Nwokeke, P. O. (2019). Democratic consolidation in Ghana and Nigeria: understanding the role of the political elites. http://ir.canterbury.ac.nz/handle/10092/16533
- Nyoni, T., & Bonga, W. G. (2017). Foreign aid–economic growth nexus: A systematic review of theory & evidence from developing countries. *Dynamic Research Journals' Journal of Economics & Finance*, 2(7), 01-16.

- Ogbonna, O., Ihemeje, I., Obioma, O., Hanson, H., & Amadi, A. (2021). Impact of External Debt Management on Economic Growth of Nigeria. *Journal La Bisecoman*, 2(2), 25-41. http://newinera.com/index.php/JournalLaBisecoman/article/view/359
- Ogunwa, T. H., Adeyelu, T. T., Fasimoye, R. Y., Oyewale, M. B., Ademoye, T. A.,
- Okyere, I., & Jilu, L. (2020). The impact of export and import to economic growth of Ghana. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 12(21), 130-138.
- Onjala, J. (2018). China's development loans and the threat of debt crisis in Kenya. *Development Policy Review*, *36*, O710-O728.
- Onyekwelu, U. H., Lucy, U., & Onwe, O. G. (2019). effect of retained earnings, dividend payout and total assets on market share price of oil and gas firms in nigeria. *Journal of Accounting Information and Innovation*, 5(6).
- Osiobe, E. U. (2019). A literature review of human capital and economic growth. *Business and Economic Research*, 9(4), 179-196.
- Owusu, J. D. (2020). An empirical investigation on the determinants of inflation in Ghana (Master's thesis, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Ås). https://nmbu.brage.unit.no/nmbu-xmlui/handle/11250/2721600
- Paldam, M. (2020). A study of triggering events: When do political regimes change? *Public Choice*, 182(1), 181-199. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11127-019-00678-4
- Palgrave Macmillan. Bal, D. P., & Rath, B. N. (2018). Do Macroeconomics Channels Matter for Examining Relationship Between Public Debt and Economic Growth in India? *Journal of Quantitative Economics*, 16(S1), 121–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40953-017-0094-3
- Park, G., & Jung, H. J. (2020). South Korea's outward direct investment and its dyadic determinants: Foreign aid, bilateral treaty and economic diplomacy. *The World Economy*, 43(12), 3296-3313. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/twec.13012
- Peterson, E. W. F. (2017). The role of population in economic growth. *Sage Open*, 7(4), 2158244017736094. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/2158244017736094
- Pham, N. S., & Pham, T. K. C. (2020). Effects of foreign aid on the recipient country's economic growth. *Journal of Mathematical Economics*, 86, 52-68.

- Phiri, D., & Morgenroth, J. (2017). Developments in Landsat land cover classification methods: A review. *Remote Sensing*, 9(9), 967. https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/9/9/67
- Phiri, M., W. (2017). —The impact of aid on the economic growth of developing countries (LDCs) in Sub-Saharan Africa", *The Gettysburg Economic Review*, 10(1), 1-23.
- Popa, F. (2014). Elements of the neoclassical growth theory. *Studies and Scientific Researches*. *Economics Edition*, (20). http://www.sceco.ub.ro/index.php/SCECO/article/view/296
- Popoola, J. (2020). Globalization and Nigeria's economic development a study of the interconnectedness. *Open Journal of Political Science*, *10*(03), 460. https://www.scirp.org/html/6-1670931 101384.htm
- Pradhan, R. P., Arvin, M. B., Nair, M., & Bennett, S. E. (2020). The dynamics among entrepreneurship, innovation, and economic growth in the Eurozone countries. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, 42(5), 1106-1122.
- Proost, S., & Thisse, J. F. (2019). What can be learned from spatial economics?. *Journal* of *Economic Literature*, 57(3), 575-643. DOI: 10.1257/jel.2018141
- Pycroft, B., & Vasilev, A. (2022). Understanding the effect of cancer incidence on labour productivity in the UK: An empirical approach with a health augmented production function (No. 12/2022). EERI Research Paper Series. http://hdl.handle.net/10419/273056
- Rahi, S. (2017). Research design and methods: A systematic review of research paradigms, sampling issues and instruments development. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 6(2), 1-5.
- Rao, D. T., Sethi, N., Dash, D. P., & Bhujabal, P. (2023). Foreign aid, FDI and economic growth in South-East Asia and South Asia. *Global Business Review*, 24(1), 31-47.
- Rapacki, R., & Prochniak, M. (2019). EU membership and economic growth: empirical evidence for the CEE countries. *The European journal of comparative economics*, *16*(1), 3-40. http://ejce.liuc.it/18242979201901/1824297920191 60101.pdf
- Rapetti, M. (2020). The real exchange rate and economic growth: A survey. *Journal of Globalization and Development*, 11(2), 20190024. https://www.degruyter.com/document/doi/10.1515/jgd-2019-0024/html

- Roberts, K. J., Smith, C., Cluver, L., Toska, E., & Sherr, L. (2021). Understanding mental health in the context of adolescent pregnancy and HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review identifying a critical evidence gap. *AIDS and Behavior*, *25*, 2094-2107. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10461-020-03138-z
- Sagire, L., & Muriu, P. W. (2021). economic growth and public debt threshold: new evidence from an emerging economy. *Journal of Economic Development*, 46(4).
- Sajjad, I., & Bilal, M. (2018). Investigating the Impact of External Debt on Economic Growth: *A Case Study of Pakistan. Journal of Business and Tourism, 4*(2), 12. https://jbt.org.pk/index.php/jbt/article/view/160
- Saleem, H., Shabbir, M. S., & Bilal khan, M. (2020). The short-run and long-run dynamics among FDI, trade openness and economic growth: using a bootstrap ARDL test for co-integration in selected South Asian countries. *South Asian Journal of Business Studies*, 9(2), 279-295.
- Salmon, J. (2021). The impact of public debt on economic growth. *Cato J.*, 41, 487. https://heinonline.org/hol-cgi-bin/get_pdf.cgi?handle=hein.journals/catoj41§ion=45
- Salop, J., & Spitäller, E. (1980). Why Does the Current Account Matter? (Pourquoi le compte courant at-il de l'importance?)(¿ Por qué importa la balanza en cuenta corriente?). Staff Papers-International Monetary Fund, 101-134. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3866863
- Salvo, D., Garcia, L., Reis, R. S., Stankov, I., Goel, R., Schipperijn, J., & Pratt, M. (2021). Physical activity promotion and the United Nations sustainable development goals: building synergies to maximize impact. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 18(10), 1163-1180. https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/jpah/18/10/article-p1163.xml
- Savvides, A. M., Velez-Ramirez, A. I., & Fotopoulos, V. (2022). Challenging the water stress index concept: Thermographic assessment of Arabidopsis transpiration. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 174(5), e13762. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/ppl.13762
- Sawyerr, D. T. (2021). Exploring the consequences of foreign aid on economic performance in sub-Saharan Africa. https://wiredspace.wits.ac.za/server/api/core/bitstreams/1b6038f9-f51b-45e8-aed7-9022a01d1670/content
- Schumpeter, J. A. (2008). The theory of economic development. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=related:XA_09eQjNMUJ:scholar.google.com/&scioq=Schumpeter,+J.+A.+(2008).+The+theory+of+economic+development.&hl=en&as sdt=0,5

- Senadza, B., Fiagbe, K., & Quartey, P. (2017). The effect of external debt on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa. *International Journal of Business and Economic Sciences Applied Research (IJBESAR)*, 11(1). https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3155129
- Sethi, N., Bhujabal, P., Das, A., & Sucharita, S. (2019). Foreign aid and growth nexus: Empirical evidence from India and Sri Lanka. *Economic Analysis and Policy*, 64, 1-12. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0313592618304284
- Sethi, N., Padhan, P. C., & Dash, D. P. (2023). When Is Aid Credible in the Emerging Asian economies? An Empirical Re-assessment from the Perspective of Economic Growth. *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 1-27. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s13132-023-01346-1
- Seyram, S., Matuka, A., & Dominic, N. (2019). External debt and economic growth: Two-step system GMM evidence for sub-Saharan Africa Countries. *International Journal of Business*, 6(1), 39-48. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Adelajda-Matuka/publication/331488113_External_Debt_and_Economic_Growth_Two-Step_System_GMM_Evidence_for_Sub-Saharan_Africa_Countries/links/5c7d088092851c6950527c1c/External-Debt-and-Economic-Growth-Two-Step-System-GMM-Evidence-for-Sub-Saharan-Africa-Countries.pdf
- Shahor, T. (2018). The impact of public debt on economic growth in the Israeli economy. Israel Affairs, 24(2), 254–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/13537121.2018.1429547
- Shahzad, U., Sarwar, S., Farooq, M. U., & Qin, F. (2020). USAID, official development assistance and counter terrorism efforts: Pre and post 9/11 analysis for South Asia. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 69, 100716.
- Sheikh, M. R., Chaudhry, I. S., Jan, H., & Khosa, S. K. (2020). Debt Laffer curve analysis: A case study of heavily indebted poor countries. *International Journal of Management Research and Emerging Sciences*, 10(1).
- Shkolnyk, I., & Koilo, V. (2018). The relationship between external debt and economic growth: Empirical evidence from Ukraine and other emerging economies. *Investment Management and Financial Innovations*, 15(1), 387–400. https://doi.org/10.21511/imfi.15(1).2018.32
- Solow, R. M. (1956). A contribution to the theory of economic growth. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 70(1), 65-94. https://academic.oup.com/qje/article-abstract/70/1/65/1903777
- Soop, G. L., Husøy, T., Wojewodzic, M. W., Hjertholm, H., Spyropoulou, A., Katsanou, E. S., & Duale, N. (2023). Transcriptional analysis in peripheral blood

- cells of individuals with elevated phthalate exposure—Results of the EuroMix study. *Environmental Research*, 222, 115377.
- Sothan, S. (2018). Foreign aid and economic growth: evidence from Cambodia. *The Journal of International Trade & Economic Development*, 27(2), 168-183.
- Stutts, J. S. (2022). What Influence Do the Government, Economy, Industry, and Society Have on Workforce Development and Interdisciplinary Education Programs in the United States? (Doctoral dissertation, Southeastern Louisiana University).

 https://search.proquest.com/openview/ab7bb3651cba71a56cc57860ca19c053/1?p q-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y
- Sugandini, D., Effendi, M. I., Sugiarto, B., Kundarto, M., & Kawuryan, S. H. E. (2023). Resistance to Agricultural Commercialization with Lack of Marketing Digital Adoption in Indonesia's Dieng Plateau. *International Journal of Sustainable Development & Planning*, 18(6). <a href="https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&authtype=crawler&jrnl=17437601&AN=164852835&h=C7EYxucQs2U0hvODRSdilPE4HFoaEgB4oEbXvhy4DJ61ZCTXZgqnzQv8rwGpDQhsvthpsR6JlU2EPX3rPVzwxA%3D%3D&crl=c
- Suidarma, M., & Yasa, N. A. (2021). The Contribution of External Debt to Economic Growth: An Empirical Investigation in Indonesia. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 8(10), 11–17. https://doi.org/10.13106/JAFEB.2021. VOL8.NO10.0011
- Suliman, A. H., & Mohammad, E. I. (2014). Foreign Direct Investment, Financial Development, And Economic Growth: A Cointegration Model. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 48(3), 219-243. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24241236
- Svirydzenka, K. (2016). Introducing a New Broad-based Index of Financial Development. *IMF Working Paper*, 16(5). https://books.google.com/books?
 https://books.google.com/books?
 <a href="https://books.google.com/
- Swan, T. W. (1956). Economic growth and capital accumulation. *Economic record*, 32(2), 334-361. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1475-4932.1956.tb00434.x
- Tahir, M., Jan, A. A., Shah, S. Q. A., Alam, M. B., Afridi, M. A., Tariq, Y. B., & Bashir, M. F. (2020). Foreign inflows and economic growth in Pakistan: Some new insights. *Journal of Chinese Economic and Foreign Trade Studies*, 13(3), 97–113. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCEFTS-01-2020-0005

- Tang, K. B., & Bundhoo, D. (2017). Foreign aid and economic growth in developing countries: Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa. *Theoretical Economics Letters*, 7(05), 1473. https://www.scirp.org/html/28-1501215 78442.htm
- Tarawalie, A. B., & Jalloh, T. (2021). External debt and economic growth nexus in the Ecowas: A threshold analysis. *International Journal of Business and Economics Research*, 10, 178-186. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Talatu-Jalloh/publication/pdf
- Tavani, D., & Zamparelli, L. (2018). Endogenous technical change in alternative theories of growth and distribution. *Analytical Political Economy*, 139-174. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119483328.ch6
- Thao, L. P. T. D., & Trường, N. X. (2018). The Impact of External Debt to Economic Growth in Vietnam: Linear and Nonlinear Approaches. *Studies in Computational Intelligence*, 952–967. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04200-4_70
- Théry, C., Witwer, K. W., Aikawa, E., Alcaraz, M. J., Anderson, J. D., Andriantsitohaina, R., & Jovanovic- Talisman, T. (2018). Minimal information for studies of extracellular vesicles 2018 (MISEV2018): a position statement of the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles and update of the MISEV2014 guidelines. *Journal of extracellular vesicles*, 7(1), 1535750.
- Thiora, M. M. (2021). Effects of External Debt on Economic Growth in Kenya (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi). http://erepository.uonbi.ac.ke/handle/11295/160459
- Thompson, C. G., Kim, R. S., Aloe, A. M., & Becker, B. J. (2017). Extracting the variance inflation factor and other multicollinearity diagnostics from typical regression results. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *39*(2), 81-90. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/01973533.2016.1277529
- Thurow, L. C., & Lucas, R. (2017). The American distribution of income: a structural problem. In *Social Policy and Public Policy* (77-88). Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781315129686-11/american-distribution-income-lester-thurow-robert-lucas
- Tien, N. H. (2021). Relationship between inflation and economic growth in Vietnam. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education* (TURCOMAT), 12(14), 5134-5139.
- Tshuma, L. (2018). The political economy of the World Bank's legal framework for economic development. In *International economic regulation* (179-200). Routledge. https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781315183930-15/political-economy-world-bank-legal-framework-economic-development-lawrence-tshuma

- Vaubel, R. (2019). The political economy of the International Monetary Fund: a public choice analysis. In *The political economy of international organizations* (204-244). Routledge.
- Wafula, M., Odondo, A. & Obange, N. (2019), —Effect of foreign multilateral aid and foreign bilateral aid on capital formation in Kenya". *Journal of Economics and Development*. https://repository.maseno.ac.ke/handle/123456789/2371
- Wako, H. A. (2018). Aid, institutions, and economic growth in sub- Saharan Africa: Heterogeneous donors and heterogeneous responses. *Review of Development Economics*, 22(1), 23-44.
- Wambaka, K. & Mutenyo, J. (2022). —Impact of bilateral and multilateral aid on economic growth in Sub-Saharan Africa and the mediating role of institutional quality". *Journal of Business and Economic Development*, 7(2), 54-62.
- Wambaka, K. (2023). Impact of Bilateral and Multilateral Aid on Economic Growth in Low and Middle-Income Sub Sahara African Countries: Mediating Role of Institutional Quality. *International Business Research*, 16(1), 1-44.
- Wangui, A. M. (2019). External Debt and Economic Growth; Lessons for Africa From South East Asia (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nairobi).
- Wanniarachchi, S. (2020). The Nexus among External Debt and Economic Growth: Evidence from South Asia. *Available at SSRN 3696553*. http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3696553
- Wilfred, A. G., & Mbonigaba, J. (2019). Human Capital in the Sub-Saharan African Countries: Productivity and the Policy Implications. *Acta Universitatis Danubius: Oeconomica*, 15(1). https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=854082
- Younsi, M., Bechtini, M., & Khemili, H. (2021). The effects of foreign aid, foreign direct investment and domestic investment on economic growth in African countries: Nonlinearities and complementarities. *African Development Review*, 33(1), 55-66.
- Yourkavitch, J., Burgert-Brucker, C., Assaf, S., & Delgado, S. (2018). Using geographical analysis to identify child health inequality in sub-Saharan Africa. *PLoSOne*, *13*(8), 0201870. https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0201870
- Zaghdoudi, T. (2020). Threshold Effect in the Relationship Between External Debt and Economic Growth: A Dynamic Panel Threshold Specification. *Journal of Quantitative Economics*, 18(2), 447–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40953-019-00182-y

Zharku, L. (2018). (Un) Productive Use of Public Debt in Kosovo. *Ekonomika*, 97(2), 18-37. https://www.zurnalai.vu.lt/ekonomika/article/view/11955

Žukauskas, P., Vveinhardt, J., & Andriukaitienė, R. (2018). Philosophy and paradigm of scientific research. *Management culture and corporate social responsibility*, 12 *I*(13),506-518.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=UMaPDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg =PA121&dq=%C5%BDukauskas,+P.,+Vveinhardt,+J.,+%26+Andriukaitien%C4 %97,+R.+(2018).+Philosophy+and+paradigm+of+scientific+research.+Managem ent+culture+and+corporate+social+responsibility,+12+1(13),+506-

518.&ots=pHZGhHKoHD&sig=Iz59lVmAgmVkPO19YY_dXqu5UqQ

